THE LKB1 TUMOR SUPPRESSOR

ANTTI YLIKORKALA

HELSINKI 2001



Helsinki University Biomedical Dissertations No.(10)

THE LKB1 TUMOR SUPPRESSOR

ANTTI YLIKORKALA

Haartman Institute & Biomedicum Helsinki University of Helsinki Finland

Academic Dissertation

To be publicly discussed with the permission of the Medical Faculty of The University of Helsinki, in auditorium 3, Biomedicum Helsinki on December 15th, 2001, at 12 noon

HELSINKI 2001

Supervised by:	Professor Tomi P.Mäkelä, M.D., Ph.D.		
	Molecular and Cancer Biology Program Haartman Institute & Biomedicum Helsinki University of Helsinki Finland		

Reviewed by: Professor Kristiina Vuori, M.D., Ph.D.

The Burnham Institute La Jolla, CA USA

Docent Juha Partanen, Ph.D.

Institute of Biotechnology University of Helsinki Finland

Official Opponent: Professor Piotr Sicinski, M.D., Ph.D.

Dana-Farber Cancer Institute Harvard Medical School Boston, MA USA

ISBN 952-10-0230-1(pdf) ISSN-1457-8433 Multiprint Oy Helsinki 2001

Contents

CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS	5
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	7
ABSTRACT	8
INTRODUCTION	9
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	
1. Cancer Syndromes are caused by Tumor Suppressor Gene Mutations	11
2. Peutz-Jeghers Syndrome (PJS)	14
2.1 Symptoms of PJS	14
2.2 Polyposis in PJS	15
2.3 Increased Risk of Cancer in PJS	15
2.4 Characteristic Ovarian and Uterine Tumors in PJS	16
2.5 Polyposis Syndromes Related to PJS	17
3. Mutations in LKB1 Gene Underlie Peutz-Jeghers Syndrome	17
3.1 PJS locus and LKB1 gene	17
3.2 Germline mutations in PJS	18
3.3 LKB1 mutations in PJS polyps	18
3.4 <i>LKB1</i> mutations in sporadic cancers	19
4. LKB1 Gene is Predicted to Encode for a Serine/Threonine Kinase	21
4.1 Lkb1 kinase in other species	21
AIMS OF THE STUDY	23
MATERIALS AND METHDOS	24
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	29
CONCLUDING REMARKS	36
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	37
REFERENCES	38

ABBREVIATIONS

Aa	amino acid(s)
AMP	adenosine monophosphate
AMPK	AMP activated protein kinase
ARNT	aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
BMP	bone morphogenetic protein
CaMK	calmodulin-dependent protein kinase
cAMP	cyclic adenosine 3', 5'-monophosphate
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CD	Cowden Disease
CGH	comparative genomic hybridization
CMV	Cytomegalo Virus
CNS	central nervous system
C-terminus	carboxy terminus
DAB	3,3'-diaminobenzidine
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
Е	embryonic day
EBV	Epstein-Barr Virus
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ES	embryonic stem cell
FACS	fluorescence-activated cell sorter
FCS	fetal calf serum
FITC	fluorescein isothiocyanate
flk-1	fetal liver kinase 1 (VEGF receptor 2)
flt-1	fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (VEGF receptor 1)
НА	hemagglutinin
HIF-1	hypoxia inducible factor-1
HSV	Herpes Simplex Virus
Ig	immunoglobulin
ĪŪ	international unit
JP	Juvenile Polyposis
kb	kilobase
kDa	kilodalton
LOH	Loss of heterozygosity
MEF	mouse embryonic fibroblasts
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
N-terminus	amino terminus
ORF	open reading frame
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PI-3'-kinase	phosphatidyl inositol 3 '-kinase
PJS	Peutz-Jeghers syndrome
РКА	protein kinase A
РКВ	protein kinase B/Akt
	•

Abbreviations

p53	p53 tumor suppressor (transcription factor)
p16	p16 tumor suppressor (cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor)
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RT-PCR	reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
SCTAT	sex cord tumor with annular tubules
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SMAD4	cytoplasmic mediator of TGF-ß and BMP signaling
SMC	smooth muscle cell
tk	thymidine kinase
TUNEL	terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP nick
	end-labeling (apoptosis detection)
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VHL	von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor
Xeek1	Xenopus egg and embryo kinase-1

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications and unpublished data presented in the results.

- I Ylikorkala A*, Avizienyte E*, Tomlinson IPM*, Tiainen M, Roth S, Loukola A, Hemminki A, Johansson M, Sistonen P, Markie D, Neale K, Phillips R, Zauber.P, Twama T, Sampson J, Jarvinen H, Makela TP, Aaltonen LA. Mutations and impaired function of *LKB1* in familial and non-familial Peutz-Jeghers syndrome and a sporadic testicular cancer. *Hum. Mol. Gen.* 8: 45-51, 1999
- II Tiainen M, Ylikorkala A, Makela TP. Growth suppression by Lkb1 is mediated by a G(1) cell cycle arrest. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 96: 9248-51, 1999
- III Luukko K, Ylikorkala A, Tiainen M, Makela TP. Expression of *LKB1* and *PTEN* tumor suppressor genes during mouse embryonic development. *Mech. Dev.* 83:187-90, 1999
- IV Ylikorkala A^{*}, Rossi DJ^{*}, Korsisaari N, Luukko K, Alitalo K, Henkemeyer M, Mäkelä TP. Vascular Abnormalities and Deregulation of VEGF in Lkb1-Deficient Mice. Science 293:1323-6, 2001

^{*)} Equal contribution

ABSTRACT

Cancer is considered a disease of the genome triggered by environmental factors. Most cancers occur sporadically without an apparent family history, but inherited cancer susceptibility syndromes are thought to account for 1-2% of cases. Recent advances in human genetics have revealed multiple tumor suppressor genes that underlie inherited cancer syndromes. Although these syndromes are rare conditions, tumor suppressor genes play a key role also in the development of sporadic cancers.

Peutz-Jeghers syndrome is an inherited disease characterized by pigmentation of the mucous membranes, hamartomatous polyps in the gastrointestinal tract and an elevated risk of cancer. The cancers affect a variety of organs, but especially high risk has been demonstrated for gastrointestinal malignancies and pancreatic carcinoma.

Peutz-Jeghers syndrome is caused by germline mutations in the LKB1 serine/threonine kinase gene. Most serine /threonine kinases are intracellular proteins that typically form signal transduction cascades translating various signals into a coordinated transcriptional response in the nucleus. While LKB1 mutations are found in Peutz-Jeghers syndrome the mechanism how these mutations predispose to cancer is not known.

In this study we have demonstrated that *LKB1* gene mutations in Peutz-Jeghers syndrome disrupt Lkb1 kinase activity. We also show that LKB1 mRNA expression and Lkb1 kinase activity are downregulated in tumor cell lines suggesting that LKB1 mRNA downregulation is a mechanism to inactivate Lkb1 function in cancer. We have also demonstrated that Lkb1 kinase activity inhibits cell proliferation by inducing a G₁ cell cycle arrest. Therefore, demonstrating that LKB1 is a gatekeeper gene directly controlling cell proliferation.

To study the *in vivo* functions of Lkb1 kinase we have generated mice lacking Lkb1. Mice lacking Lkb1 die during midgestation. thus demonstrating that for Lkb1 is essential mammalian development. Moreover, severe vascular abnormalities were observed in embryonic and extraembryonic compartments and in further studies the vascular endothelial growth factor VEGF mRNA expression was shown to be deregulated in both compartments. VEGF expression was also shown to be upregulated in fibroblasts derived from the Lkb1 mutant embryos thereby placing Lkb1 in the VEGF signaling pathway.

This study has demonstrated that Lkb1 regulates both cell proliferation and angiogenesis, both of which are key steps in cancer development. Finally, this study may provide a rationale for the increased risk of cancer incidence among Peutz-Jeghers syndrome patients and helps to develop novel cancer therapies based on the identified mechanisms.

INTRODUCTION

Cancer is a Disease of the Genome

Cancer is one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality in developed societies (Peto, 2001). Epidemiological studies have shown that smoking, diet, radiation and certain virus infections increase cancer risk. Many of these risk factors contain chemical carcinogens or physical agents capable of damaging DNA resulting in genomic lesions. Thus, cancer is considered a disease of the genome by environmental triggered factors. Although most cancers occur sporadically without an apparent family history, up to 10% of cancers are thought to have familial predisposition. Rare inherited cancer susceptibility syndromes account only for 1-2% of cases. However, similar genetic alterations have also been suggested to play critical role in common sporadic cancers.

Genes in Cancer Development

Cancer is a disease characterized by clonal expansion of cells that progressively shift from normal cells to invasive cancer cells via intermediate steps (Fearon and Vogelstein, 1990). Cells require certain characteristics to adopt malignant phenotype. This multistep process requires alterations in the function of many genes.

Genes involved in the development of cancer are commonly divided into oncogenes and tumor suppressors. Both groups control key cellular properties required for cancer development. These properties can be grouped into six separate characteristics including sustained positive growth signaling, insensitivity to negative growth signaling, tissue invasion, cell induction immortalization, of from angiogenesis and evasion programmed cell death (Table1) (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). Each genetic event, which either activates oncogenes or inactivates tumor suppressors gives cells a growth advantage over normal cell population and leads to sequential conversion of normal cells into cancer cells.

Table 1. Characteristics of malignant cells (Hanahan and Weinberg 2001)

List of key characteristics that normal cells have to adopt to become malignant and capable of developing metastatic cancer.

Self-sufficiency in growth signaling
Insensitivity to anti-growth signaling
Tissue invasion and metastasis
Limitless replicative potential
Sustained angiogenesis
Evasion of apoptosis

Oncogenes

The first oncogenes (e.g. src, Ha-ras) were originally discovered in the DNA of retrovirus genomes having the capacity to induce malignant transformation of cultured cells. Subsequently, the same oncogenes were found also in human cancer cells (Bishop, 1981) (Parada et al., 1982). Surprisingly, even normal cells were reported to carry genes that were related to oncogenes. These genes were termed proto-oncogenes to distinguish them from oncogenes found in viruses and cancer cells. Proto-oncogenes were found to have an important function in normal cell signaling regulating cell growth and differentiation (Cantley et al., 1991). However, proto-oncogenes could become cancerous oncogenes by genomic alterations enhancing their function.

In fact, gain-of function mutations, over-expression, chromosomal translocations and gene amplifications of proto-oncogenes are frequently observed in human neoplasia (Bishop, 1991).

Tumor Suppressors

The first evidence for the presence of tumor suppressor genes came from epidemiological studies of the familial and non-familial forms of a rare ocular tumor retinoblastoma. Knudson proposed that both copies of a given tumor suppressor gene are inactivated in cancer (Knudson, 1971). This "two-hit" hypothesis suggested that familial retinoblastoma patients had inherited one defective allele of a gene predisposing to retinoblastoma. The other allele of this gene would then be somatically mutated leading to tumor development. In the non-familial cases both alleles had to be somatically inactivated demanding more time. This explained the later occurrence of

retinoblastoma in sporadic cases. Later, the *Rb* gene was identified and mutations in both alleles of this gene were reported in retinoblastomas, supporting the Knudsons hypothesis (Lee et al., 1987).

Gatekeepers and Caretakers

Tumor suppressors can be further divided into gatekeepers and caretakers based on gene function (Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1997). Gatekeepers prevent neoplasia directly by controlling cell growth, either by regulating proliferation or by promoting cell death. Although multiple gatekeeper genes have been identified, only one gatekeeper is thought to be active in a given cell type and inactivation of this gatekeeper is rate limiting for tumor development. Thus, when both alleles of a gatekeeper gene are inactivated in target tissue, cells escape from normal growth control.

In contrast, caretaker genes prevent malignant transformation indirectly by maintaining genomic integrity. This class of tumor suppressors contains genes involved in DNA repair and replication. Mutations in caretaker genes result in genomic instability and in increased mutation rate. Consequently, gatekeepers are prone to become inactivated and oncogenes activated due to the genomic instability.

Landscaper genes have been suggested to be a third category of tumor suppressors, in which the genetic defect is not in the neoplastic cell population itself but rather in the adjacent stromal cells. As a result, cells associated with the abnormal stroma develop malignancy due to an abnormal intercellular signaling (Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1998).

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1. Cancer Syndromes are Caused by Tumor Suppressor Gene Mutations

Linkage studies and positional cloning have revealed multiple tumor suppressor genes that underlie inherited cancer syndromes (*Table 2*). Although inherited cancer syndromes are rare conditions, tumor suppressor gene inactivation has a major role also in the development of sporadic cancers (Weinberg, 1995).

According to Knudson's "two hit" model tumor development requires inactivation of both alleles of a tumor suppressor gene (Knudson, 1971). Indeed, loss of heterozygosity (LOH) of a tumor suppressor gene is frequently detected in cancers. However, some recent reports

suggest that haploinsufficiency caused by losing only one tumor suppressor allele is sufficient for tumor development (Fero et al., 1998; Roberts et al., 2000; Smits et al., 2000; Wetmore et al., 2000; Xu et al., 2000; Zurawel et al., 2000).

In addition to inactivating mutations in suppressors, tumor some cancer syndromes arise due to activating mutations in proto-oncogenes. А particularly interesting mechanism familial underlies melanoma, where mutations in CDK4 gene render cell cycle regulator cdk4 (cyclin dependent kinase 4) resistant to its inhibitors thus increasing cdk4 activity and promoting cell division (FitzGerald et al., 1996; Whelan et al., 1995).

Table 2. Cancer syndromes caused by tumor suppressor mutations

A list of cancer syndromes that are caused by inactivating mutations in tumor suppressor genes. Proposed category indicates whether the tumor suppressor gene has a caretaker or a gatekeeper function.

Disease	Affected gene	Protein function	Proposed category	Tumor spectrum in affected patients
Ataxia-telangiectasia	ATM	Protein kinase, maintains genomic integrity	Caretaker	Breast cancer, leukemia and lymphoma
Bannayan-Riley- Ruvalcaba syndrome	PTEN	Phosphatase that inhibit PI 3- kinase –Akt pathway. Regulates cell cycle, aopotosis and angiogenesis	Gatekeeper	Breast and thyroid cancer, intestinal hamartomas
Basal cell nevus	РТСН	Receptor for sonic hedgehog pathway	Gatekeeper	Basal cell carcinoma, medulloblastoma
Bloom's syndrome	BLM	DNA helicase, maintains genomic integrity	Caretaker	Leukemias, lymphomas and multiple carcinomas

Review of the Literature

Carney complex	PRKARIA	Protein kinase A regulatory subunit	Unknown	Cardiac and other myxomas, endocrine tumors and melanotic schwannomas.
Cockayne syndrome	XPB, XPD and XPG	Required for DNA excision repair	Caretaker	Melanoma, basal cell carcinoma
Cowden syndrome (CS),	PTEN	Phosphatase that inhibit PI 3- kinase –Akt pathway. Regulates cell cycle, aopotosis and angiogenesis	Gatekeeper	Breast and thyroid cancer, intestinal hamartomas
Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (FAP)	APC	Sequesters &-Catenin in the cytoplasm	Gatekeeper	Cancer in GI-tract, osteomas, medulloblastoma
Familial breast and ovarian cancer	BRCA1, BRCA2	Maintains genomic integrity by repairing DNA doublestrand breaks	Caretaker	Breast and ovarian cancers, BRCA2 also in pancreatic and prostate cancer
Familial gastric cancer	E-Cadherin	Interacts with β-Catenin and regulates cell adhesion	Gatekeeper	Gastric cancer
Familial melanoma/dysplastic nevus	CDKN2 (P14, p16, p19ARF)	p14 and p16 are CDK inhibitors, block cell cycle, p19ARF regulates p53 via MDM2	Gatekeeper	Melanoma, pancreatic, bladder and esophageal cancer, leukemia
Fanconi anemia	FANCA, FANCC,FANC D, FANCE, FANCF, FANCG	Maintain genomic integrity	Caretaker	Leukemia and squamous cell carcinomas
Hereditary Non- Polyposis Colorectal Carcinoma (HNPCC)	MSH2, MSH3, MSH6, PMS1, PMS2, MLH1	DNA mismatch repair	Caretaker	Colorectal, gastric, endometrial, ovarian, hepatobiliary and urinary tract cancers, glioblastoma
Li Fraumeni	p53	Transcription factor, Regulates cell cycle, apoptosis and angiogenesis.	Gatekeeper	Multiple sarcomas, brain tumors, breast cancer, leukemia
Multiple endocrine neoplasia type I	MENI	Interacts with the AP-1 transcription factor JunD and represses JunD-activated transcription	Unknown	Gastrinoma, insulinoma, parathyroid tumors
Multiple exostoses	EXT1, EXT2, EXT3	Heparan sulfate polymerase activity	Unknown	Exostoses, chondrosarcoma
Nijmegen breakage syndrome	NBS1	Maintains genomic integrity by repairing DNA doublestrand breaks	Caretaker	Lymphomas
Neurofibromatosis	NF1,NF2	Regulates Ras signaling and cytoskeleton	Gatekeeper	Neurofibromas, gliomas, astrocytomas, meningeomas, scwannomas
Paraganglioma	SDHD	Small subunit of cytochrome b in mitochondrial complex II	Unknown	Nonchromaffin paragangliomas
Peutz-Jeghers syndrome (PJS)	LKB1	Serine/threonine kinase. Angiogenesis and cell cycle regulation	Gatekeeper	Cancer in GI-tract, pancreas, breast, ovary and testis
Retinoblastoma	Rb	Cell cycle control	Gatekeeper	Retinoblastoma, osteosarcoma

Review of the Literature

Rothmund-Thomson syndrome	RECQ4	DNA helicase, maintains genomic integrity	Caretaker	Osteosarcoma
Tuberous sclerosis	TSC1, TSC2	Regulates cell proliferation, growth and adhesion via small GTPases	Gatekeeper	Renal cell carcinoma, angiomyolipoma, astrocytoma, hamartomas
Werner syndrome	WRN	DNA helicase and exonuclease maintaining genomic integrity	Caretaker	Soft tissue sarcomas, meningeomas, thyroid carcinomas, melanomas
Willms tumor	WT1	Zinc finger transcription factor with multiple target genes	Gatekeeper	Nefroblastoma
von Hippel-Lindau	VHL	Component of ubiquitin-ligase complex, regulates cell cycle, adhesion and angiogenesis	Gatekeeper	Clear renal cell carcinoma, feochromocytomas, hemangioblastomas, colorectal cancer
Xeroderma pigmentosum	XPA, XPB, XPC, XPD, XPE, XPF, XPG	DNA excision repair	Caretaker	Melanoma, basal cell carcinoma

2. Peutz-Jeghers Syndrome (PJS)

Peutz-Jeghers syndrome (PJS) is an autosomally dominantly inherited disease characterized by pigmentation of the mucous membranes, hamartomatous polyps in the gastrointestinal tract and an elevated risk of cancer (Hemminki, 1999; Tomlinson and Houston, 1998).

The first two patients with signs of PJS were described in the late 19th century. One died of small bowel obstruction and the other developed breast cancer (Hutchinson, 1896). Later, Peutz described a family with a history of polyposis and aberrant mucocutaneous pigmentation (Peutz, 1921) and in 1940s Jeghers reported observations of 12 patients with polyposis and pigmentation linking them together as a clinical entity (Jeghers 1944, 1949).

The incidence of PJS has been estimated to be between 1:8300 to 1:29000 live births (Finan and Ray, 1989; Mallory and Stough, 1987), but some investigators have estimated it to be less common (Spiegelman, 1994; Hemminki, 1999). Peutz-Jeghers patients commonly have a family history of polyposis and pigmentation, but 10-20% of cases lack an apparent family history and are caused by sporadic de novo mutations. Reliable cases of incomplete penetrance have not been reported suggesting a complete penetrance of PJS (Amos et al., 1997; Hemminki et al., 1997; Mehenni et al., 1997; Nakagawa et al., 1998).

2.1 Symptoms of PJS

The earliest presenting sign of PJS is the characteristic pigmentation of the oral area, buccal mucosa, vulva, fingers and toes. The pigmentation is commonly first noted on the lower lip. The vast majority of PJS patients exhibit pigment macules, but marked differences in localization and intensity between patients and families has been documented (Westerman, 1997). In older age, pigmentation may diminish or even disappear. The mechanism of the pigmentation is poorly understood. although one electron microscopic study demonstrates a block in the melanosome transfer from the melanocytes to keratinocytes suggesting melanocyte dysfunction (Yamada et al., 1981).

In addition to the pigment macules the symptoms caused by gastrointestinal polyposis can lead to the diagnosis of PJS. The polyps commonly cause occlusion, intussusception, abdominal pain, bleeding and a prolapse of a rectal polyp (Burdick and Prior, 1982; Foley et al., 1988; Utsunomiya et al., 1975). The majority of cases are diagnosed before the 3rd decade of life (Utsunomiya et al., 1975), but in some patients the polyposis causes only mild symptoms and the disease manifests in old age (Laughlin, 1991).

2.2 Polyposis in PJS

Gastrointestinal polyps are commonly classified into adenomatous, hyperplastic, and hamartomatous polyps. Adenomatous polyps are masses of mucosal epithelium originating from aberrant proliferation in intestinal crypts. The majority of colorectal cancers develop stepwise from pre-existing adenomatous polyps, thus establishing adenomas as premalignant lesions (Fearon and Vogelstein, 1990; Vogelstein and Kinzler, 1993). Hyperplastic polyps are histologically well-differentiated polypoid mucosal protrusions, but progression to cancer is less common than in adenomatous polyps (Daibo et al., 1987; Jass et al., 1992).

Hamartomatous polyps consist of multiple well-differentiated tissues

endogenous to the site of polyp. Originally, hamartomas were thought to be benign lesions, but recent studies have indicated that hamartomas may progress to carcinoma via intermediate steps mimicking the stepwise transformation of adenoma to carcinoma (De Facq et al., 1995; Defago et al., 1996; Entius et al., 1997; Gruber et al., 1998; Hizawa et al., 1993; Perzin and Bridge, 1982; Spigelman et al., 1989).

The diagnostic feature of PJS is the development of specific hamartomatous polyps in the gastrointestinal tract. PJSassociated hamartomatous polyps are pedunculated, usually relatively large, and often cystic. Macroscopically they may resemble adenomas. Polyps are frequently found in small intestine (70-90%) of the patients, but they can also be detected in colon and rectum (50%) and in stomach (25%) (Burdick and Prior, 1982; Foley et al., 1988; Utsunomiya et al., 1975). In addition to the gastrointestinal tract, hamartomatous polyps have occasionally been reported in nasal and oral cavities, esophagus, in respiratory and urinary tracts and in breasts in PJS patients. (Burdick and Prior, 1982; De Facq et al., 1995; Jancu, 1971; Keating et al., 1987; Sommerhaug and Mason, 1970).

Histologically PJS polyps are characterized by well differentiated, but dysorganized glandular epithelium with numerous clear goblet cells (Rosai, 1996). A diagnostic feature of the hamartomatous polyps in PJS is a dominant, welldeveloped smooth muscle component originating from the polyp stalk. This smooth muscle infiltration can be observed even in the periphery of the polyp by immunohistochemistry with antibodies against smooth muscle actin and desmin (Fulcheri et al., 1991). In addition to hamartomatous polyps,

hyperplastic and adenomatous polyps are occasionally detected in PJS patients.

2.3 Increased Risk of Cancer in PJS

Early studies of PJS failed to demonstrate increased cancer risk among PJS patients. A study of 21 PJS cases concluded that malignant transformation of hamartomatous polyps rarely occurs (Dormandy, 1957). Similarly, a 10-year follow-up of a large PJS family did not provide evidence for an increased cancer incidence in PJS (Burdick et al., 1963). However, 19 years later after a 27-year follow-up, two breast cancers, one jejunal adenocarcinoma arising from a polyp and three benign ovarian tumors were detected in the same family. (Burdick and Prior, 1982).

The first evidence of the increased cancer incidence in PJS patients came from a study, which reported four gastric. three duodenal, one ileal and three colorectal cancers in 321 PJS patients (Dozois et al., 1969). Later, 28 cancers and increased mortality were reported in a large study of 222 Japanese PJS patients (Utsunomiya et al., 1975). However, a 33year follow-up study of 48 PJS patients detected only one gastrointestinal cancer and failed to demonstrate decreased survival questioning the possible premalignant potential of PJS (Linos et al., 1981).

The most convincing evidence supporting the increased risk of cancer in PJS came from a 12-year follow-up of 31 familial PJS patients. Fifteen histologically verified cancers were reported including four gastrointestinal carcinomas. ten non-gastrointestinal carcinomas and one myeloma (Giardiello et al., 1987). The cancer risk was estimated 18-fold higher than in general population. Moreover, Boardman et al. have suggested that female PJS patients are at even higher risk than male patients due to particularly high risk of breast and gynecologic cancers (Boardman et al., 1998).

A recent meta-analysis has summarized data collected from six publications including 210 patients. The relative risk of all cancers among PJS patients was estimated 15.2 fold higher than in general population and the cumulative risk of developing malignancy by the age of 64 was 94% (Giardiello et al., 2000). The relative risks calculated for individual types of cancers presented in *Table 3* demonstrate high relative risk for gastrointestinal and pancreatic cancers. The high cumulative risk of ovarian, uterine and breast cancers suggests that female PJS patients are at higher risk of developing malignancy than men.

Table 3. The incidence of cancer in PJS Patients (Giardello et al., 2000)

The meta-analysis included data from publications where all PJS diagnoses were based on typical clinical and histopathologic findings. The cancer diagnoses were also confirmed by histology. Malignancies were most commonly seen in breast, colon, pancreas and stomach. There was especially high relative risk for developing small intestinal cancer, which otherwise is a rare malignancy.

Carcinoma	Number of cases reported	Relative risk (Observed/Exp ected)	Cumulative risk from age 15 to 64
- -			
Small intestine	6	520	13%
Stomach	10	213	29%
Pancreas	6	132	36%
Colon	15	84	39%
Esophagus	1	57	0.5%
Ovary	4	27	21%
Lung	5	17	15%
Uterus	2	16.0	9%
Breast	11	15.2	54%
Testes	1	4.5 *	9%
Cervix**	3	1.5 *	10%
4.11			1
All cases	66	15.2	93%

*) statistically not significant **) Most cases of adenoma malignum not included

2.4 Characteristic Ovarian and Uterine Tumors in PJS

Sex-cord tumor with annular tubules (SCTAT) is a rare benign neoplasm almost exclusively seen in PJS patients. SCTAT tumor is commonly calcified, small, multifocal and bilateral. Histologically it has features of granulosa cell and sertoli cell tumor and focal differentiation of both cell types may occur. Occasionally, these tumors are hormonally active resulting in symptoms associated hyperestrogenism with (Herruzo et al., 1990; Scully, 1970; Young et al., 1983; Young et al., 1982).

Adenoma malignum or minimal deviation adenocarcinoma is a rare welldifferentiated form of cervical adenocarcinoma seen in PJS patients. It has been estimated that 10% of all adenoma malignum cases occur in PJS patients (Gilks et al., 1989; Szyfelbein et al., 1984) and that it commonly co-exists with ovarian tumors (Srivatsa et al., 1994; Young and Scully, 1988).

2.5 Polyposis Syndromes Related to PJS

Cowden disease (CD) and Juvenile polyposis (JP) are dominantly inherited polyposis syndromes similar to Peutz-Jeghers syndrome, which exhibit genetic heterogeneity. PJS is distinguished from these syndromes by the extensive infiltration of smooth muscle in the polyps.

Patients with Cowden disease exhibit cutaneous hamartomas and trichilemmomas, hamartomatous polyps in gastrointestinal tract and increased risk of breast, thyroid and skin cancer (Hanssen and Fryns, 1995; Weinstock and Kawanishi, 1978). Mutations in *PTEN* gene have been shown to underlie Cowden disease (Liaw et al., 1997; Lynch et al., 1997; Nelen et al., 1997). *PTEN* gene encodes for a phosphatase that regulates negatively the PI3'K/PKB/Akt signaling pathway by dephosphorylating phosphoinositoles (Maehama and Dixon, 1998; Myers et al., 1998; Stambolic et al., 1998). One study suggests that PTEN also dephosphorylates focal adhesion kinase (FAK) regulating cell adhesion and motility (Tamura et al., 1998), but the tumor suppressive function of PTEN has been shown to be dependent only on its lipid phosphatase activity (Myers et al., 1998)

Juvenile polyposis (JP) is characterized by distinct type of hamartomatous polyps in the colon (Desai et al., 1995). Occasionally adenomatous and mixed histology polyps are found in JP patients. Histologically the polyps exhibit dilated glandular structures lined by mucus secreting epithelium with thick lamina propria. Although juvenile polyps rarely undergo malignant transformation. patients with JP are at higher risk of gastrointestinal cancer (Giardiello et al., 1991; Giardiello and Offerhaus, 1995; Jarvinen and Franssila, 1984; Sassatelli et al., 1993). JP is caused by mutations in SMAD4, BMPR1 PTEN and genes demonstrating genetic heterogeneity between these cancer syndromes (Howe et al., 2001; Howe et al., 1998; Olschwang et al., 1998). BMPR1 encodes for a bone morphogenetic protein receptor 1, and SMAD4 for a cytoplasmic mediator of the morphogenetic bone protein and transforming growth factor-beta signaling. This suggests that the BMP signaling pathway is involved in the pathogenesis of JP.

3. Mutations in *LKB1* Gene Underlie PJS

3.1 PJS locus and *LKB1* gene

The PJS susceptibility locus was identified by assuming that hamartomas are clonal expansions that exhibit loss of heterozygosity (LOH) according to Knudson's "two-hit" model. Indeed, small chromosomal deletions were found in the short arm of chromosome 19 bv comparative genomic hybridization (CGH) followed by demonstration of linkage to 19p13.3 (Hemminki et al., 1997). Other groups confirmed this finding (Amos et al., 1997; Nakagawa et al., 1998). In addition, Olschwang et al. reported three families, and Mehenni et al. one family, that were not linked to 19p13.3, suggesting the presence of another PJS locus (Mehenni et al., 1997; Olschwang et al., 1998). Furthermore, Mehenni et al. demonstrated linkage to alternative locus at 19q13.4 in a large Indian family that did not show linkage to 19p13.3 (Mehenni et al., 1997).

Subsequently, germline mutations were identified in PJS patients in *LKB1* (*STK11*) serine/threonine kinase gene located in 19p13.3 region (Hemminki et al., 1998; Jenne et al., 1998). *LKB1* gene consists of 10 exons, the first being partially coding, and 10th exon noncoding. The *LKB1* mRNA is ubiquitously expressed, but particularly high expression has been reported in testis and fetal liver (Hemminki et al., 1998; Jenne et al., 1998).

3.2 Germline Mutations in PJS

Surprisingly, considerable variation in the *LKB1* mutation frequency has been reported. The first reports detected germline *LKB1* mutations in vast majority of PJS patients (Gruber et al., 1998; Hemminki et al., 1998; Jenne et al., 1998). Later studies, however, have found coding region or splice mutations only in 55% to 77% of PJS patients (Mehenni et al., 1998; Nakagawa et al., 1998; Olschwang et al., 2001; Resta et al., 1998; Wang et al., 1999; Westerman et al., 1999; Ylikorkala et al., 1999). Some studies have suggested that LKB1 mutations are even more uncommon (Boardman et al., 2000; Jiang et al., 1999; Yoon et al., 2000). However, it is likely that these studies have underestimated LKB1 the mutation frequency due to low sensitivity mutation screening methods.

The majority of *LKB1* mutations are small deletions or point mutations predicted to truncate Lkb1 protein and compromise its function, but many mutations cause only single amino acid substitutions, small in-frame deletions or minor truncations (*Figure 1*).

3.3 *LKB1* Mutations in PJS Polyps

In addition to the chromosomal losses in CGH analysis, Hemminki et al. demonstrated LOH near the LKB1 locus by PCR in three PJS polyps. LOH was found to be restricted to areas having high number of clear goblet cells suggesting that they might be the primary clonal neoplastic cell population. No allelic imbalance was detected in the stromal tissues of the polyps suggesting that the smooth muscle hyperproliferation in PJS polyps is not a clonal event. (Hemminki et al., 1997). Other studies have reported variable frequencies of LOH in the PJS polyps. While Gruber et al. demonstrated LOH by PCR in majority of polyps (Gruber et al., 1998). Entius and Miyaki suggested that LOH of LKB1 might be less frequent in PJS polyps (Entius et al.,

2001; Miyaki et al., 2000). Alternatively, promoter methylation or small missense mutations, could be responsible for inactivating *LKB1*. Interestingly, Rowan studied LOH negative PJS polyp by *in situ* hybridization and demonstrated *LKB1* mRNA expression throughout the polyp, suggesting that some polyps retain *LKB1* mRNA expression (Rowan et al., 2000). This is supported by our data showing that *LKB1* mRNA and protein expression and kinase activity are not compromised in hamartomatous polyps arising in mice modeling PJS (Rossi et al., unpublished).

The molecular analysis of carcinomas in PJS patients has not been extensive due to limited material, but interestingly all cancers have been reported to LOH of *LKB1* (Entius et al., 2001; Su et al., 1999). This could suggest that while polyps may arise in heterozygous state, cancer development requires biallelic inactivation of *LKB1*

3.4 *LKB1* Mutations in Sporadic Cancers

Hundreds of sporadic tumors and cell lines have been studied to evaluate the role of LKB1 mutations in sporadic tumorigenesis. Although chromosomal loss at 19p13.3 is commonly observed in cancers only limited numbers of somatic mutations in the remaining LKB1 allele have been demonstrated. Colorectal cancer is among the most extensively studied tumor type. Most studies have shown that biallelic inactivation of LKB1 is rare in colorectal carcinomas (Avizienyte et al., 1998; Launonen et al., 2000; Nakagawa et al., 1999; Resta et al.,

1998; Wang et al., 1998). A notable exception to this is the high frequency of LOH with accompanying missense mutations in the remaining allele in Korean patients with left sided colon cancer (Dong et al., 1998). However, in more detailed analysis 6 of 7 mutations were shown not to disrupt Lkb1 autocatalytic activity (Launonen et al., 2000).

Biallelic mutations have not been demonstrated in breast cancer. CNS tumors, adenoma malignum and SCTAT tumors (Bignell et al., 1998; Connolly et al., 2000; Forster et al., 2000; Sobottka et al., 2000). However, a few cases of biallelic *LKB1* mutations have been described in lung adenocarcinoma. ovarian cancer and melanoma (Avizienyte et al., 1999; Rowan et al., 1999; Wang et al., 1999). In 5% of sporadic pancreatic and biliary adenocarcinomas truncating mutations in the remaining LKB1 allele are accompanied with LOH (Su et al., arguing that somatic LKB1 1999). mutations might have a role in the development of pancreatic and biliary cancers.

Since somatic mutations in sporadic cancers have been relatively rare, it has been suggested that alternative mechanisms mav be important for inactivating LKB1. This has been supported by demonstrating LKB1 promoter methylation and mRNA down regulation in primary tumors and cell lines (Esteller et al., 2000; Tiainen et al., 1999; Trojan et al., 2000).

Review of the Literature

Type of Mutation	Figure		Origin of Mutation	Reference
wild type				
Y49D			melanoma cell line	Rowan A et al. 1999
Y60X			PJS	Olschwang S et al. 2001
L67P			PJS	Hemminki A et al. 1998
Q100X			PJS	Westerman AM et al. 1999
K108R			PJS	Wang ZJ et al. 1999
Y118X			PJS	Olschwang S et al. 2001
C132X			PJS	Olschwang S et al. 2001
G135R			melanoma	Rowan A et al. 1999
F157S			PJS	Ylikorkala A et al. 1999
D162N			PJS	Westerman AM et al. 1999
G163D			PJS	Westerman AM et al. 1999
G163D			testicular cancer	Avizienyte E et al. 1998.
L164M			PJS	Westerman AM et al. 1999
G171S			colorectal cancer	Dong SM et al. 1998
D176N			PJS	Mehenni H et al.1998
N181Y			PJS	Ylikorkala A et al. 1999
L182P			PJS	Olschwang S et al. 2001
D194N			PJS	Westerman AM et al. 1999
D194V			lung cancer	Avizienyte E et al. 1999
D194Y			melanoma	Guldberg P et al.1999
E199K			colorectal cancer	Dong SM et al. 1998
D208N			colorectal cancer	Dong SM et al. 1998
G215D			colorectal cancer	Dong SM et al. 1998
S232P			PJS	Yoon KA et al. 2000
G242W			PJS	Olschwang S et.al 2001
G242V			PJS	Olschwang S et al. 2001
G251S			PJS	Resta N et al. 1999
E256S			PJS	Yoon KA et al. 2000
H272Y			PJS	Boardman LA et al. 2000
P281L			ovarian cancer	Nishioka Y et al. 1999
P281L			colorectal cancer	Dong SM et al. 1998
R297K			PJS	Westerman AM et al. 1999
R297S			PJS	Boardman LA et al. 2000
R304W			PJS	Resta N et al. 1999
W308C			PJS	Mehenni H et al. 1998
P314H			colorectal cancer	Resta N et al. 1999
P324L			gastric carcinoma	Park WS et al. 1998
P324L			PJS	Yoon KA et al. 2000
F354L			colorectal cancer	Dong SM et al. 1998
136/M			colorectal cancer	Dong SM et al. 1998
51-56			PJS	Mehenni H et al. 1998
52			PJS	Olschwang S et al. 2001
107-109			PJS	Wang ZJ et al. 1999
137-140			PJS	Ylikorkala A et al. 1999
175-176			PJS	Resta N et al. 1999
247			PJS	Nakagawa H et al. 1998
303-306			PJS	Hemminki A et al. 1998
330-334			PJS	Gruber SB et al. 1998
98-155	╎┝═╪═╧═╎╌╌╌╴┍		PJS	Hemminki A et al. 1998
156-307	╎┝╍┿╍╍╍╌┥╍		PJS	Jenne et al. 1998
416 stop			PJS	wang ZJ et al.1999
trameshift 359		<u> </u>	PJS	westerman AM et al. 1999
trameshift 342		<u> </u>	PJS	Yoon KA et al. 2000
trameshift 319			PJS	Olschwang S et.al 2001
trameshift 316			PJS	Westerman AM et al. 1999

Review of the Literature

frameshift 312	Pancreatic cancer	Su et al. 1999
308 stop	PJS	Ylikorkala A et al. 1999
frameshift 307	PJS	Hemminki A et al. 1998
Frameshift 306	PJS	Westerman AM et al. 1999
Frameshift 305	PJS	Ylikorkala A et al. 1999
Frameshift 302	PJS	Mehenni H et al.1998

Figure 1.Small mutations reported in PJS patients, sporadic cancers and cell lines

High frequency of mutations in the kinase domain (grey).

4. *LKB1* Gene is Predicted to Encode a Serine/Threonine Kinase

The characteristic feature of serine/threonine kinases is a catalytic kinase domain composed of eleven subdomains. The kinase domain binds substrate proteins and ATP in the presence of a divalent cation (Mg^{2+}, Mn^{2+}) , and transfers the -phosphate group of the ATP to a serine or threonine residue of the substrate. Hundreds of serine/threonine kinases have been identified in eukaryotes, the majority of which are implicated in signal transduction. Typically, kinases cascades form phosphorylating their target proteins to achieve amplified signal with high specificity. As a result, extracellular signals (such as growth factors and hormones), nutritional and environmental stress signals, and cell cycle checkpoints are translated into coordinated transcriptional responses in the nucleus.

Serine/threonine kinases are subdivided into major groups based on the degree of homology in the kinase domain (Hanks et al., 1988). Lkb1 is placed into the calmodulin dependent kinase (CaMK) group, where it exhibits weak homology to AMP activated protein kinase (AMPK). AMPK is composed of a catalytic subunit and two regulatory subunits (Beri et al., 1994; Carling et al., 1994) and it is activated allosterically by elevated AMP levels during metabolic stress (Ferrer et al., 1985; Harwood et al., 1984).

4.1 Lkb1 Kinase in Other Species

The conservation of genes and their function between species allows scientists to use others species as model organisms to study the function of genes *in vivo*. Model organisms have been used successfully to identify novel pathways that control cell growth, differentiation and programmed cell death.

Lkb1 kinase has been highly conserved during evolution and some information is available on Lkb1 homologues in mice, Xenopus, and *C.elegans*. The Drosophila homologue has been identified only by sequence. Smith et al. characterized the mouse *Lkb1*, and found it to be localized on mouse chromosome 10. The genomic structure of mouse *Lkb1* is similar to the human *LKB1* consisting of ten exons (Smith et al., 1999). The human and mouse Lkb1 proteins share 96.2% identity in the kinase domain and 89.7% identity overall.

The *Xenopus* Lkb1, termed Xeek1, was identified in a screen to identify novel kinases homologous to cell cycle kinase Cdc2 (Su et al., 1996). In fact, Xeek1 was the first Lkb1 kinase family member to be identified and it was identified well before LKB1 was linked to the Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Human Lkb1 and Xeek1 share 93% identity in the kinase domain and 82% overall identity (Jenne et al., 1998). shown to XEEK1 has been coimmunoprecipitate and phosphorylate an unknown 155 kDa protein. Moreover, the XEEK1 C-terminus is phosphorylated by PKA, but the significance of this modification is unknown.

A kinase (Par-4) homologous to Lkb1 was identified from nematode *C.elegans*.

Par-4, along with five other Par genes (Par-1 to Par-6), were required for cell polarization and asymmetric cleavage in *C.elegans* embryos (Kemphues et al., 1988; Watts et al., 1996). Par-4 gene was subsequently cloned and shown to encode a serine/threonine kinase homologous to Lkb1 and Xeek1 (Watts et al., 2000). The sub-cellular distribution of Par-3/Par-6 protein complex was altered in Par-2, Par-4 and Par-5 mutant embryos, thus establishing a genetic link between these genes (Hung and Kemphues, 1999). Recently, mammalian homologues have been identified for Par-3 and Par-6 (Izumi et al., 1998), and they have been shown to form a functional unit with atypical protein kinase C and cdc42 or Rac1 that control cell polarity (Johansson et al., 2000; Lin et al., 2000; Oiu et al., 2000). This suggests that Par genes form a pathway that may be functionally conserved from nematodes to man.



Figure 2. Relationship of Lkb1 to other kinases

Lkb1 kinases are conserved during evolution. The human Lkb1 has homologues in Mouse (Lkb1), *Xenopus* (Xeek1), *Drosophila* (dLkb1) and *C.elegans* (Par-4). The closest Lkb1 relative in humans is the AMP activated kinase (AMPK), which belongs to the CAM kinase group. However, AMPK shares more homology with the SNF-1 stress kinase in yeast demonstrating that Lkb1 kinases are a distinct kinase group.

AIMS OF THE STUDY

Mutations in *LKB1* serine/threonine kinase gene are found in Peutz-Jeghers syndrome patients, but the functions of Lkb1 kinase and how *LKB1* mutations predispose to cancer is not known.

- 1. Characterize the protein encoded by the *LKB1* gene including generation of a functional assay.
- 2. Study the functional consequences of *LKB1* mutations with the functional assay.
- 3. Explore Lkb1 expression and function in tumor cell lines
- 4. Study the functional effects of reintroduction of Lkb1 into tumor cell line
- 5. Study the expression patterns of the *Lkb1* and *Pten* tumor suppressor genes during mouse development.
- 6. Study functions of *Lkb1 in vivo* by creating mice lacking *Lkb1*.

MATERIALS AND METHDOS

Detailed description of materials and methods are in original publications.

cDNA Sequencing (Study I)

RNA was converted to cDNA in RT reaction using random priming method with M-MLV reverse transcriptase and RNase inhibitor. The coding region of *LKB1* was amplified by standard PCR protocol.

Exon Sequencing (Study I)

33 PJS patients were available for the mutation screening in LKB1. The diagnosis was based on the presence of histopathologically confirmed intestinal Peutz-Jeghers polyposis. Other clinical information data. such as on mucocutaneous pigmentation, and clinical features of family members were not available for all patients. Of the 33 patients, 20 had a family history of PJS and 8 were sporadic. In 5 cases family data was not available. Mucocutaneous pigmentation was documented in almost all cases (17 of 18) where the information about the pigmentation was available. Isolation of DNA was performed using standard procedures and EBVimmortalized cell lines were prepared from PJS patients' blood samples using standard methods. Mutation screening was performed by genomic sequencing of the nine coding LKB1 exons. Primers were designed to cover all exonic coding sequences as well as splice acceptor and donor sites.

Genotype and Linkage Analysis (Study I)

Microsatellite markers D19S180. D19S880, D19S891 and D19S254 were used to test for linkage to 19q13.4 in six families negative for LKB1 germline mutation. Multipoint linkage analyses were performed using the program GENEHUNTER. Marker allele sizes and frequencies were obtained from Centre d'Etudes du Polymorphisme Humain (CEPH; http://www.cephb.fr) and from Genome Database the (http://gdbwww.gdb.org). А dominant mode of inheritance with 85% penetrance was assumed. The disease allele frequency was set to 0.0002.

Southern Blotting (Study I)

8 µg of genomic DNA was digested with EcoRI and TaqI restriction enzymes, resolved by 0.8% agarose gel electrophoresis and blotted onto membrane. The probes were PCR amplified from the LKB1 cDNA and DNA. Hybridizations genomic were carried out using standard protocols.

LKB1 Expression Constructs (Study I)

The coding region of wild type or mutant *LKB1* was PCR amplified and the PCR fragment was digested and subcloned into EcoRI and SalI sites of pCI-Neo based vectors containing N-terminal hemagglutinin (HA) or Myc epitope tags. All *LKB1* alleles were confirmed by sequencing.

Cell Culture and Transfections (Study I, II)

G361 (melanoma), HeLa S3 (cervical SW480 (colorectal carcinoma). adenocarcinoma), U2OS (osteosarcoma), and NIH3T3 (fibroblast) cells were grown in DMEM with 10% FCS, L-glutamine, and penicillin/streptomycin. The cells were transfected using the calcium phosphate transfection method. For determining the colony forming ability, the transfected cells were subjected to 2-3 mg/ml G418 selection for 16 to 20 days. For counting, the colonies were fixed with 5% trichloroacetic acid and stained with 3% Giemsa stain.

Metabolic Labeling of Cellular Proteins (Study I)

48 hours after transfection cells were starved for 1 hour in media lacking cysteine and methionine followed by a metabolic labeling with 200 μ Ci/ml of a mixture of S³⁵cysteine and S³⁵methionine for 2 hours. Subsequently cells were lysed and subjected to immunoprecipitation. Immunoprecipitates were washed and subjected to SDS-PAGE analysis followed by fluorography.

Immunoprecipitation and Kinase Assays (Study I, II)

48 h after transfection cells were collected and lysed followed by an immunoprecipitation overnight with 12CA5 anti-HA, 9E10 anti-myc or a specific polyclonal antiserum raised against a 15 amino acid C-terminal peptide of human Lkb1. Control immunoprecipitations were performed with anti-Lkb1 preincubated with the antigenic peptide. Subsequently

immunoprecipitates were washed and incubated at 30° C for 30 min in kinase buffer containing 10 µCi of P³² ATP. The reactions were stopped by adding boiling SDS-PAGE sample buffer and analyzed on 10% SDS-PAGE gel.

Northern Blotting (StudyII)

Clontech Multiple Tissue Northern (MTN^{TM}) Blot (#7757-1) was hybridized according to standard protocols.

Western Blotting (Study I, II, IV)

20 µg-40 µg of protein from cell lysates were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and western blotting according to standard techniques using anti-HA, anti-Myc, polyclonal anti-Lkb1 or anti-Glut-1 antibodies and detected by enhanced chemiluminescence.

Immunofluorescence (Study II)

Cells were seeded on coverslips and fixed with 3.5% paraformaldehyde 48 hours post-transfection. Double immunofluorescence was performed with polyclonal anti-Lkb1 and monoclonal anti-ß-galactosidase, which were detected with rhodamin-conjugated anti-rabbit and fluorescein-conjugated anti-mouse secondary antibody, respectively. The nuclei were visualized with Hoechst 33342.

Flow Cytometry Analysis (Study II)

G361 cells were co-transfected with *LKB1* plasmids and pCMV/CD20 selection plasmid. The cells were treated with nocodazole to induce a G2/M phase

block. Subsequently cells were detached, incubated with anti-CD20-FITC and fixed with 80% ethanol. Propidium iodide was used to stain the nuclei. The cell cycle distribution of CD20 positive and negative cells was analyzed with a Coulter EPICS flow cytometer. Percentages of cells in G1, S and G2/M phases were determined with CellFIT cell cycle analysis program.

Lkb1 Deficient Mice (Study IV)

Two independent targeting strategies were used. The first (figure 3) resulted in a deletion of genomic sequences encompassing exons 2 to 7 (of 10 total); the second (figure 4), based on Cre/LoxP methodology, resulted in the inversion of these sequences. In both cases, we used a 6.3 kb NsiI-HindIII (5') fragment and 2.0 kb BamHI-BamHI (3') fragment of

sequence. Positive (PGKgenomic Neomycin) and negative (PGK-HSV-tk) selection markers were used in both strategies. The target vectors were electroporated into ES cells and correctly targeted clones were identified bv Southern blotting with 5' and 3' external probes. ES cell clones were injected into C57BL/6 blastocysts. Several chimeric offspring were found to transmit targeted alleles in the germline. Germline inactivation of Lkb1 utilizing the LoxP/Cre-technique was achieved by crossing targeted animals to PGK-Cre mice (Lallemand et al., 1998). Stable inversion of the targeted sequences was then achieved by breeding the PGK-Cre transgene out of subsequent generations. Lkb1^{-/-} animals obtained with both strategies were found to have identical phenotypes and both were used in this study.



Figure 3.

Targeting strategy designed to replace exons 2-7 of the mouse *Lkb1* locus by PGK-Neo cassette.



Figure 4.

Cre-recombinase mediated targeting strategy designed to place Lox-P sites in 1^{st} and 7^{th} introns. Lox-P sites result in the inversion of the exons 2-7 and creation of non-functional allele in the presence of Cre recombinase.

Embryo Cultures (Study IV)

E9.5 embryos were minced and cultured on 48-well plates in DMEM containing 15% FCS. For the VEGF analysis, 25,000 MEFs from individual embryos in passage 3 were plated on 24well plates and cultured in normoxic (21% O_2) or hypoxic (1% O_2) conditions for 24 hours. Conditioned medium was removed and VEGF concentration was analyzed by ELISA. Remaining cells were lysed immediately in SDS sample buffer, and subjected to SDS-PAGE analysis.

TUNEL Labeling (Study IV)

Paraformaldehyde-fixed and paraffinembedded 7-µm tissue sections were used to study cell death in embryonic tissues. Terminal deoxytransferase-mediated deoxy-uridine nick end-labeling (TUNEL) analysis was performed according to manufacturer's instructions and counterstained with Hoechst 33342.

In situ Hybridization (Study III, IV)

A mouse *Lkb1* open reading frame in pGEM-T or a PCR fragment of human PTEN (96% identity to mouse sequence) open reading frame were used for *in vitro* transcription of 35 S-UTP-labeled antisense

and sense probes. *In situ* hybridizations were performed according to Wilkinson and Green (Wilkinson et al., 1990) with modifications (Luukko et al., 1996). The probes for *Vegf*, *flk-1*, *flt-1* are described previously (Kaipainen et al., 1993).

Whole-mount *in situ* **Hybridization** (Study IV)

Embryos fixed were in 4% paraformaldehyde, bleached in 7% H₂O₂-93% methanol, treated with proteinase K post-fixed and 4% in glutaraldehyde. paraformaldehyde/0,2% Hybridization with digoxygenin-UTPlabeled antisense probe was followed by RNaseA/RNaseT1 treatment. Embryos were incubated with alkaline phosphatase conjugated anti-digoxigenin antibody.

Whole-mount Immunostainings (Study IV)

Embryos were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, bleached in 5% H_2O_2 -95% methanol and blocked. After incubation with antibodies against CD31 and smooth muscle actin the embryos were treated with peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies and developed in 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSON

The Prevalence of *LKB1* **Mutations in PJS** (Study I)

To investigate the prevalence and nature of germline mutations in PJS families and in non-familial PJS cases, we performed germline mutation analyses of *LKB1* in 33 unrelated PJS patients.

In direct genomic sequencing 18 different mutations were detected. Fifteen mutations compromised the LKB1 open reading frame, and involved small truncations and point mutations, and three changed splice donor or acceptor sites. Samples which did not exhibit mutations in genomic sequencing were subsequently scrutinized for large genomic rearrangements by RT-PCR or Southern blotting analysis. Southern analysis of genomic DNA revealed aberrant bands suggesting that an approximately 2 Kb deletion may have occurred in one LKB1 allele in one sample.

The prevalence of observed LKB1 mutations in familial cases was 12/20 (60%), and 4/8 in sporadic cases (50%). In the whole series 19 (58%) mutations in LKB1 were observed in 33 PJS patients. The proportion of mutation-positive PJS individuals in our study was significantly lower than in the initial reports (Gruber et al., 1998; Hemminki et al., 1998; Jenne et al., 1998), but it is in accordance with recent reports with more material. This suggests that a second PJS locus might exist (Mehenni et al., 1998; Nakagawa et al., 1998; Olschwang et al., 2001; Resta et al., 1998; Wang et al., 1999; Westerman et al., 1999; Ylikorkala et al., 1999).

Linkage to 19q13.4 (Study I)

In our series, 10 mutation-negative patients failed to demonstrate linkage to 19p13.3. To study linkage to the possible minor PJS locus in 19q13.4 (Mehenni et al., 1997), we used microsatellite markers D19S180, D19S880, D19S891 and D19S254 in 6 families where no *LKB1* genetic defect or linkage to 19p13.3 was found. LOD scores ranging from -10.16 to 0.54 with these markers suggested no linkage to 19q13.4, excluding it as an alternative locus among these patients.

LKB1 Gene Encodes a Protein Kinase (Study I)

To characterize the protein encoded by LKB1, we cloned the LKB1 open reading frame (ORF) into а mammalian expression vector and transiently expressed HA-epitope-tagged Lkb1 in the human osteosarcoma cell line U2OS. Cells were metabolically labeled using s³⁵cysteine and S^{35} methionine and analyzed on SDS-PAGE. Lkb1 protein was observed to migrate at 60 kDa, which is higher than its predicted molecular weight (48 kDa). This suggests that Lkb1 protein could be covalently modified in vivo.

To study the catalytic activity of Lkb1, HA-tagged Lkb1 was immunoprecipitated from cellular lysates an in vitro kinase was carried out. In contrast to the Lkb1 homologue in Xenopus, which did not exhibit autocatalytic activity, a prominent phosphorylated band was noted at 60 kDa in Lkb1 immunoprecipitates. This band was presumed to represent Lkb1 autophosphorylation. Alternatively, the immunoprecipitates could contain another kinase capable of phosphorylating Lkb1.

Moreover, a 115 kDa protein was observed to co-immunoprecipitate with Lkb1 in S³⁵ labeled lysates. This band could represent an endogenous Lkb1 interacting protein or a substrate. However, phosphorylation of this 115 kDa protein was not observed.

Mutations in PJS Patients Impair Lkb1 Activity

By measuring Lkb1 kinase activity we compared wild type Lkb1 to three mutants with minor predicted changes identified in Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. The mutants used included a C-terminal truncation (308 stop), 4 amino acid in-frame deletion (303-306) and a one amino acid substitution (L67P) (Figure 1). PJSassociated mutations encoded a stabile Lkb1 protein, but in contrast to the wild type, the PJS-mutatnts did not exhibit detectable kinase activity. Furthermore, a sporadic testicular cancer-derived mutation (G163D) was included in the studies (Figure 1). In contrast to the undetectable activity in the PJS-derived mutations, the testicular cancer-derived mutant had retained small amount of activity, although it was significantly reduced compared to the wild-type Lkb1. These results demonstrated that PJS- and cancer-derived mutations inactivate or severely compromise Lkb1 kinase activity.

The Subcellular Localization of Lkb1 (Study II)

The subcellular localization of Lkb1 was studied in G361 cells transiently transfected with *LKB1* expression constructs by immunofluoresence analysis. Lkb1 detected was predominantly in the nucleus, but in a significant fraction (ca. 30%) of cells, Lkb1 was found mainly in the cytoplasm. Similar Lkb1 localization pattern has been reported by other groups (Collins et al., 2000; Nezu et al., 1999). In addition to nuclear and cytoplasmic localization, Lkb1 has been demonstrated to associate with plasma membrane (Collins et al. 2000; Sapkota at al., 2001). The distinct distribution of Lkb1 in the cells may suggest that Lkb1 function is regulated by its subcellular localization. altering Interestingly, Nezu et al. have proposed that Lkb1 may be inactivated by nuclear sequestration; thus, these authors have demonstrated full autocatalytic activity, but exclusively nuclear localization, of the (303-306) deletion (Nezu et al., 1999). However, other groups, including ours, have not been able to demonstrate measurable kinase activity in the 303-306 mutant (Marignani et al., 2001). In fact, our results suggest that nuclear localization is a common feature of all catalytically inactive Lkb1 alleles. including 303-306 (Tiainen et al.. unpublished).

In addition to the Lkb1 kinase activity the nuclear localization requires a nuclear localization signal sequence (NLS) localized on the N-terminus of Lkb1 (Smith et al., 1999).

LKB1 mRNA Expression and Activity in Tumor Cells (Study II)

In order to study *LKB1* mRNA expression in human tumors, we performed northern blotting analysis on a panel of human tumor cell lines originating from various tissues. HeLa S3 cells (cervical adenocarcinoma) had undetectable, and G361 cells (melanoma) exhibited severely reduced levels of *LKB1* mRNA, suggesting that mRNA downregulation could be a mechanism to impair Lkb1 function in human tumors.

We also analyzed Lkb1 activity in HeLa S3 and G361 cell lines by immunoprecipitating Lkb1 with a specific polyclonal antiserum followed by in vitro kinase assay. Lkb1 activity was undetectable in HeLa S3 cells. and markedly reduced in G361 cells, in accordance to their LKB1 mRNA levels. Thus, measuring endogenous Lkb1 kinase activity provides a method to assess the function of Lkb1 in tumors and to detect *LKB1* gene inactivation.

Lkb1 Induces Cell Cycle Arrest (Study II)

To investigate the possibility that LKB1 mRNA and kinase activity downregulation in HeLa S3 and G361 provides a growth advantage to these cells. G361 and HeLa S3 cells were transfected with an expression vector encoding both Lkb1 and a neomycin resistance gene, or a vector encoding the selection marker only. The transfections were subsequently subjected to G418 selection. A strongly reduced number of detected colonies was in LKB1 transfections compared to the vector-only transfections in both G361 and HeLa S3 cells, indicating that re-expression of Lkb1 resulted in growth suppression in these cells.

The growth suppression by ectopic Lkb1 was limited to cells with undetectable or low endogenous levels of Lkb1 (such as G361 and HeLa S3 cells). Thus, cells resistant to growth inhibition by ectopic Lkb1 may have acquired mutations, which prohibit suppression by Lkb1. Alternatively, a regulatory subunit might be needed for full Lkb1 activity. We also investigated whether Lkb1 kinase activity was necessary for growth inhibition and took advantage of three *LKB1* mutant alleles (303-306, 308 stop and G163D) that impair Lkb1 kinase activity. All three naturally occurring mutant *LKB1* alleles were unable to suppress growth of G361 cells. Indicating that Lkb1 kinase activity is required for the growth suppression.

The cell cycle changes in G361 cells transfected with either wild-type or mutant Lkb1 were studied using flow cytometry (FACS). Proliferating cells were arrested in mitosis with the microtubule-stabilizing agent nocodazole to reveal cells blocked in G_1 . The G_1 fraction of wild-type *LKB1* transfected cells was 36% compared to 18% of 303-306 mutant transfected cells, indicating that *LKB1* growth suppression result from G_1 cell cycle arrest. The observation that Lkb1 induces cell cycle arrest provides evidence that *LKB1* tumor suppressor has a gatekeeper function.

The mechanism of the *LKB1*-mediated cell cycle arrest has been further studied by Marignani et al., who has demonstrated that Lkb1 protein associates with Brg1 remodeling chromatin protein and stimulates its ATPase activity in vitro. However, the increase in Brg1 ATPase activity was not dependent on Lkb1 kinase activity, since the inactive 303-306 mutant was also capable of increasing Brg1 activity. On the other hand, the Brg1-dependent growth arrest and flat cell morphology was shown to require Lkb1 kinase activity. This controversy might suggests that Lkb1 kinase activity may not be mediating all Lkb1 functions (Marignani et al., 2001).

In addition to cell cycle control, it has been suggested that Lkb1 might have role in programmed cell death. Karuman et al. have demonstrated that Lkb1 and p53 proteins interact and that Lkb1 translocates into mitochondria followed apoptotic stimulus. Moreover. bv expression of a C-terminal truncation of Lkb1 was capable of inducing a p53dependent cell death (Karuman et al., 2001). However. similar C-terminal truncations have been reported in cancer prone PJS patients (Figure 1), arguing that these mechanisms do not provide explanation for the increased cancer risk in PJS. Despite this controversy, other groups have also connected Lkb1 to p53 demonstrating bv that Lkb1 phosphorylates p53 in vitro (Sapkota et al., 2001, Vaahtomeri et al. unpublished).

Similar to the Xenopus Lkb1 (Xeek1), mammalian Lkb1 contains a cAMPdependent protein kinase A (PKA) consensus phosphorylation site (serine 431) on its C-terminus. This site has been shown to be phosphorylated by p90 ribosomal S6 kinase (p90RSK) and (PKA) in vivo. The functional relevance of this modification was studied by showing that a mutant lacking this phosphorylation site (S431A) was not able to suppress G361 melanoma cell growth. Interestingly, the S431A allele retains full kinase activity, thus separating Lkb1 kinase activity and growth suppression (Sapkota et al., 2001).

The C-terminus of Lkb1 has been reported to contain a prenylation sequence that is actively farnesylated in vivo. The functional relevance of this modification is still unclear. Abrogation of this motif did not alter the localization, activity or growth suppressive properties of Lkb1 (Collins et al., 2000; Sapkota et al., 2001). putative Moreover. a PKB/Akt phosphorylation site at threonine 336 has also been identified in the Lkb1 Cterminus (Sapkota et al., 2001) and the role of this potential regulatory element is currently under evaluation.

Expression of *Lkb1* and *Pten* During Mouse Development (Study III)

Peutz-Jeghers syndrome (PJS) and Cowden disease (CD) are conditions that share some clinical features, such as hamartomatous polyposis and increased risk of cancer. Due to the similarities of PJS and CD, PTEN and LKB1 could function in the same cells and in the same signaling pathway. To analyze potential co-localization of PTEN and LKB1 and possible roles their in embryonic development, we studied their expression during mouse embryonic development by RNA in situ hybridization.

Hybridization of Lkb1 and Pten probes to embryonic day 7 - 11 (E7.0-E11.0) embryos revealed a high ubiquitous expression of both mRNAs in all extraembryonic and embryonic tissues. In later stages of development, the expression of both *Pten* and *Lkb1* became more pronounced in lung epithelium and mesenchyme, thyroid gland, thymus, salivary gland, kidney epithelium and bladder epithelium. urinary The embryonic liver contained relatively more Lkb1 than Pten expression.

In the gastrointestinal tract, *Lkb1* and *Pten* signal was detected from the early stages of development. Later, an intense expression became restricted to the mucosal epithelium of the small intestine, colon and rectum. Both transcripts were also seen in the epithelium of the oral cavity, esophagus and stomach.

In the E15.0 embryo, the central nervous system (CNS) had relatively more expression of *Pten*, but later prominent expression of both genes was observed in the (CNS) and in peripheral nerve ganglia. *Lkb1* and *Pten* mRNAs were also present

at high levels in the epithelium lining the nasal cavity.

Additionally, intense *Lkb1* expression was noted in seminiferous tubules of the testis containing spermatogonia and Sertoli cells.

In summary, expression of Lkb1 and Pten mRNA were observed in tissues and organs affected in **Peutz-Jeghers** syndrome and Cowden disease. In addition, similar expression patterns of Lkb1 and Pten suggests that these genes interact functionally mav during embryonic development.

In later studies, similar *LKB1* mRNA expression pattern has been reported in human fetal tissues. In adult human and mouse tissues high *LKB1* expression has been detected in testis, esophagus, and in crypts of the colonic villi (Rowan et al. 2000; Luukko et al. unpublished).

Mice Lacking *Lkb1* Die During Midgestation (Study IV)

To study the function of *Lkb1 in vivo*, we generated *Lkb1*-deficient mice by introducing an inactivating *Lkb1* allele into murine embryonic stem (ES) cells by homologous recombination (*Fig3*, 4).

In intercrosses of *Lkb1* heterozygous $(Lkb1^{+/-})$ mice, both $Lkb1^{+/+}$ (n=87) and $Lkb1^{+/-}$ (n=177) animals were observed at expected frequencies, while no $Lkb1^{-/-}$ animals were obtained, demonstrating that $Lkb1^{-/-}$ mice die during development. Analysis of $Lkb1^{-/-}$ embryos throughout embryonic development revealed no abnormalities prior to embryonic day 7.5 (E7.5), and the majority of embryos appeared to develop normally up to E8.0.

Macroscopic analysis of $Lkb1^{-/-}$ embryos beyond E8.25 revealed multiple abnormalities, including a failure of the

embryo to turn, a defect in neural tube closure, and a hypoplastic or absent first branchial arch.

Whole-mount *in situ* hybridization was used to study the integrity of various developmental lineages in the Lkb1-/embryos at E8.5 and E9.5. The expression of the mesodermal marker brachvury showed that notochord developed normally along the anterior/posterior axis in the mutant embryos, but the defective somites in Lkb1^{-/-} embryos failed to express Engrailed1 at E9.5. No pronounced changes in the expression of Wnt3A, Fgf8 or Krox-20 were noted, suggesting that there was normal development of the mesoderm of the tail bud, forebrain and primitive streak, and normal segmentation of the hindbrain. No viable embryos were observed after E11.0, indicating that Lkb1 is essential for embryonic development.

Severe Vascular Defects in *Lkb1^{-/-}* Embryos (Study IV)

Mutant embryos at E9.25 had a translucent appearance, suggesting the possibility of vascular defects. The embryonic vasculature was visualised by PECAM-1 immunostaining. Both mutant and wild-type embryos developed a paired dorsal aorta at E8.5, but the mutant aorta was thin and discontinuous particularly in the anterior part of the vessel. At E9.5, the lumen of the mutant aorta remained thin. with intersomitic branches terminating prematurely the mesenchyme. in Abnormalities were also observed in vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) in E9.5 embryos. Lkb1^{-/-} embryos showed a complete absence of VSMC staining in the dorsal aorta and somites. In addition, an unusual, strong ectopic smooth muscle actin signal was detected in head folds of mutant embryos, which did not appear to contribute to the supportive vascular structures.

Apoptosis in Lkb1^{-/-} Embryos (Study IV)

Sections of E9.5 Lkb1^{-/-} embryos often revealed large cystic degenerations near the dorsal aorta occasionally containing embryonic blood cells. Additionally, the surrounding cephalic mesenchyme had a lower cell density and fewer developing capillaries than controls. The decreased cell density was due to increased cell death in the mesenchyme as determined by TUNEL. This phenotype was limited to the E9.5 embryos; the E8.5 embryos showed similar number of TUNEL positive nuclei regardless of genotype suggesting that the increased cell death in the mesenchyme was secondary to the vascular defects.

Vascular Defects in Lkb1-/-Yolk Sacs and Placentas(Study IV)

Analysis of extraembryonic tissues at E9.5 revealed that the mutant yolk sacs failed to develop large vitelline vessels and an extensive capillary network. Moreover, the vitelline artery was completely atretic in $Lkb1^{-/-}$ yolk sacs, effectively disconnecting the embryo from the yolk sac (vitelline) circulation.

Mutant placentas at E9.5 were oedematous, hemorrhagic, and small in diameter and the invasion of embryonic blood vessels into the placenta did not occur in the mutant. *In situ* hybridizations with a VEGF receptor probes (*flk-1*, *flt-1*), confirmed the lack of fetal blood vessels in the rudimentary labyrinth layer.

Deregulation of VEGF Expression in *Lkb1^{-/-}* **Mice** (Study IV)

То investigate the mechanism underlying the vascular defects we analysed the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), which is a key regulator of embryonic vascular development. VEGF mRNA was found to be deregulated in both the embryonic and extraembryonic compartments at E8.5 and E9.5. The $Lkb1^{-/-}$ placentas exhibited markedly diminished VEGF mRNA expression particularly in the trophoblast giant cells, whereas the *Lkb1*^{-/-} embryos expressed abnormally elevated levels of VEGF in several tissues. This that Lkb1 both demonstrated can positively and negatively regulate VEGF expression in a tissue-specific manner.

VHL is a component of a SCF-like E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase complex that regulates VEGF expression by targeting the Hypoxia Inducible Factor 1a (HIF-1a) proteosome-mediated degradation to (Maxwell et al., 1999; Cockman et al., 2000; Ohh et al., 2000). Interestingly, disruption of the murine VHL tumor suppressor gene results in a similar downregulation of VEGF in the extraembryonic tissues (Gnarra et al., 1997), while the expression of VEGF in VHL^{-/-} embryos has not been reported. VHL loss in other systems has been found to lead to up regulation of VEGF (Mukhopadhyay et al., 1997; Siemeister et al., 1996).

VEGF Expression in *Lkb1^{-/-}* MEFs (Study IV)

To study the VEFG expression in individual cells wild-type and mutant mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) from littermate embryos were isolated and subjected to hypoxia to induce VEGF expression. VEGF levels were measured from the cell culture media by ELISA. Analysis of VEGF levels in cell culture media revealed that the mutant MEFs produced significantly higher levels of VEGF than controls in hypoxic conditions demonstrating that Lkb1 regulates VEGF expression.

To study the role of Lkb1 in hypoxia responses we monitored the HIF-1 dependent induction of glucose transporter 1 (Glut1) in hypoxia. HIF-1 is a transcription factor consisting of HIF-1 and ARNT proteins forming а heterodimeric complex to activate target gene transcription (Wang et al., 1995; Jiang et al., 1996; Wood et al., 1996). In hypoxic conditions HIF-1 translocates into nucleus and binds to the hypoxia responsive elements (HRE) at promoters and activates transcription of Glut1, erythropoetin, VEGF and several enzymes involved in the glycolytic pathway (Semenza et al., 1994; Forsythe et al., 1996; Kallio et al., 1998). Comparable induction of Glut1 in wild-type and mutant MEFs suggested that the HIF-1 pathway was intact in *Lkb1* mutant cells. Moreover, VEGF secretion was increased in normoxic conditions in the mutant MEFs arguing that VEGF deregulation was not hypoxia-dependent.

In order to explore the mechanism by which *Lkb1* regulates VEGF expression we studied the activation of p42/44^{MAPK} and p38 kinases implicated in VEGF regulation (Milanini et al., 1998; Pal et al., 1997; Xiong et al., 2001). Comparable levels of activated p42/44^{MAPK} and p38 kinases were observed in *Lkb1* mutant and wild-type MEFs suggesting that Lkb1 regulates VEGF expression by alternative mechanisms.

These results show that loss of Lkb1 function leads to increased basal and induced expression of VEGF in fibroblasts thereby placing Lkb1 in the VEGF signaling pathway.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Cancer is a disease, which is characterized by malignant transformation and clonal expansion of cells. Tumor suppressor genes and oncogenes control this process. The *LKB1* tumor suppressor gene mutated in Peutz-Jeghers syndrome encodes a serine/threonine kinase.

This work describes two separate functions for the Lkb1 kinase. The observation that Lkb1 activity induces cell cycle arrest demonstrates that Lkb1 has a gatekeeper function, suggesting that LKB1 mutations provide a growth advantage to cells that promote transformation and tumor development. On the other hand, Lkb1 was shown to regulate VEGF expression in Lkb1 deficient mice. This surprising finding suggests that decreased Lkb1 activity may convert cells to an angiogenic state promoting the recruitment of new bloodvessels into the tumor.

Angiogenesis plays a key role in the development of cancer and metastasis. New blood vessels feed the expanding tumor and provide a route for metastasis. Large parts of the tumor are deprived of oxygen due to an insufficient blood supply (Helmlinger et al., 1997). This activates the expression of genes that facilitate cells to adapt to hypoxia. Thus, tumor switches to an angiogenic state to meet the metabolic needs of the rapidly growing cells.

Besides direct growth control some tumor suppressors regulate angiogenesis by controlling the expression of angiogenic mediators. The observation that PTEN, VHL and p53 are able to inactivate HIF-1, suggests that the HIF-1 transcription factor is crucial for the tumor suppressor-mediated angiogenesis. Consequently, inactivation of these tumor suppressors result in the activation of HIF-1 leading to sustained expression of VEGF (Maxwell et al., 1999; Ravi et al., 2000: Zundel et al., 2000). The observation that HIF-1 mediated hypoxia response, p42/44^{MAPK} and p38 kinase pathways were unaffected in Lkb1 deficient cells suggest, that Lkb1 may regulate VEGF expression by an alternative less well-characterized mechanism. Studying the mechanism how Lkb1 regulates VEGF levels may increase our understanding on the angiogenesis process and lead to novel therapies targeting VEGF.

The study of Peutz-Jeghers syndrome has been restrained due to the rarity of the disease and limited material. Using Lkb1 heterozygous mice as a model for PJS could circumvent this problem. In fact, recent findings suggest that these mice PJS-associated mimic the polyposis providing a valuable tool to study the Lkb1-dependent tumorigenesis in vivo. These studies may provide insight on the role of Lkb1-dependent cell cycle control and VEGF deregulation in the development of Peutz-Jeghers syndrome and cancer.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

These studies were carried out in the Haartman Institute and Biomedicum Helsinki during years 1996-2001. I wish to thank professors Eero Saksela, Antti Vaheri and Olli Jänne for providing excellent research facilities, and stimulating scientific atmosphere at the Meilahti campus.

I also want to acknowledge the Helsinki Biomedical Graduate School for arranging interesting courses and seminars and providing financial support. Particularly, I would like to thank professors Olli Jänne and Kimmo Kontula in the M.D./Ph.D. program, for the encouragement and valuable advice during the early years.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Tomi Mäkelä for guiding me into the world of science and teaching me scientific thinking and reasoning. It has been a privilege to work with an exceptional scientist with such enthusiasm and inspiration.

It has been a great pleasure to work in the cell cycle laboratory during these years. My warmest thanks go to all present and past members of the lab: Aino Vesikansa, Annika Järviluoma, Johanna Rinta-Valkama, Kari Vaahtomeri, Kirsi Mänttäri, Lina Udd, Pekka Katajisto, Päivi Ojala, Sanna Kihlberg, Tea Vallenius, Thomas Westerling, Susanna Räsänen, Evita Elfving, Arno Pihlak, Damien Heramand and Matti Heinonen.

I am especially indebted to Derrick Rossi and Nina Korsisaari for the stimulating collaboration and entertaining off-lab activities over the years. I am also grateful to Marianne Tiainen for her valuable advice and patient guidance during these years. I would also like to appreciate Birgitta Tjäder for her longstanding support and assistance.

I have had a pleasure to collaborate with a number of people. I would like to express my gratitude to Kari Alitalo and his group for helping in the VEGF studies, Mark Henkemeyer for assisting in gene targeting, Keijo Luukko for his friendship and expertise in *in situ* hybridization, Lauri Aaltonen and his group for providing their input into the functional Lkb1 studies. Especially, I want to credit Egle Avizienyte.

I am grateful to Kristiina Vuori and Juha Partanen and for the in-depth review and valuable comments on my thesis manuscript. I wish to acknowledge also Ari Ristimaki and Kalle Saksela for their input in the thesis comitee.

My warmest thanks go also to my dear friends: Karri, Aino, Heini, Aki, Tomi, Esa, Karri, Sampsa, Marko and Petteri for their support and for the good times we have spent during these years. I would also like to thank friends and colleagues in Cursus Contortus and Cursus Immortalis and people in Curvatura for the unforgettable skiing trips.

I am deeply grateful to Anna for her love and support. Her patience and understanding have been vital during these years. A devoted and supporting family has also been crucial. My warmest thanks go to my beloved parents and sister. Thank you Anja, Olli and Kata.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge Finnish Medical Foundation, Orion-Farmos Research Foundation, Vuorisalo fund, Eemil Aaltonen foundation, Finnish Cancer Foundation and Ida Montin foundation for financial support.

REFERENCES

Amos, C. I., Bali, D., Thiel, T. J., Anderson, J. P., Gourley, I., Frazier, M. L., Lynch, P. M., Luchtefeld, M. A., Young, A., McGarrity, T. J., and Seldin, M. F. (1997). Fine mapping of a genetic locus for Peutz-Jeghers syndrome on chromosome 19p. Cancer Res 57, 3653-6.

Avizienyte, E., Loukola, A., Roth, S., Hemminki, A., Tarkkanen, M., Salovaara, R., Arola, J., Butzow, R., Husgafvel-Pursiainen, K., Kokkola, A., Jarvinen, H., and Aaltonen, L. A. (1999). LKB1 somatic mutations in sporadic tumors. Am J Pathol *154*, 677-81.

Avizienyte, E., Roth, S., Loukola, A., Hemminki, A., Lothe, R. A., Stenwig, A. E., Fossa, S. D., Salovaara, R., and Aaltonen, L. A. (1998). Somatic mutations in LKB1 are rare in sporadic colorectal and testicular tumors. Cancer Res *58*, 2087-90.

Benagiano, G., Bigotti, G., Buzzi, M., D'Alessandro, P., and Napolitano, C. (1988). Endocrine and morphological study of a case of ovarian sex-cord tumor with annular tubules in a woman with Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 26, 441-52.

Beri, R. K., Marley, A. E., See, C. G., Sopwith, W. F., Aguan, K., Carling, D., Scott, J., and Carey, F. (1994). Molecular cloning, expression and chromosomal localisation of human AMP- activated protein kinase. FEBS Lett *356*, 117-121.

Bignell, G. R., Barfoot, R., Seal, S., Collins, N., Warren, W., and Stratton, M. R. (1998). Low frequency of somatic mutations in the LKB1/Peutz-Jeghers syndrome gene in sporadic breast cancer. Cancer Res 58, 1384-6.

Bishop, J. M. (1981). Enemies within: the genesis of retrovirus oncogenes. Cell 23, 5-6.

Bishop, J. M. (1991). Molecular themes in oncogenesis. Cell *64*, 235-48.

Boardman, L. A., Thibodeau, S. N., Schaid, D. J., Lindor, N. M., McDonnell, S. K., Burgart, L. J., Ahlquist, D. A., Podratz, K. C., Pittelkow, M., and Hartmann, L. C. (1998). Increased risk for cancer in patients with the Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Ann Intern Med *128*, 896-9.

Boardman, L. A., Couch, F. J., Burgart, L. J., Schwartz, D., Berry, R., McDonnell, S. K., Schaid, D. J., Hartmann, L. C., Schroeder, J. J., Stratakis, C. A., and Thibodeau, S. N. (2000). Genetic heterogeneity in Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Hum Mutat *16*, 23-30.

Boardman, L. A., Thibodeau, S. N., Schaid, D. J., Lindor, N. M., McDonnell, S. K., Burgart, L. J., Ahlquist, D. A., Podratz, K. C., Pittelkow, M., and Hartmann, L. C. (1998). Increased risk for cancer in patients with the Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Ann Intern Med *128*, 896-9.

Burdick, D., Prior J.T., Scanlon, G.T. (1963) Peutz-Jeghers syndrome: a clinical-pathologival study of a large family with a 10-year follow—up. Cancer, *16*: 854-867

Burdick, D., and Prior, J. T. (1982). Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. A clinicopathologic study of a large family with a 27-year follow-up. Cancer *50*, 2139-46. Cantley, L. C., Auger, K. R., Carpenter, C., Duckworth, B., Graziani, A., Kapeller, R., and Soltoff, S. (1991). Oncogenes and signal transduction. Cell *64*, 281-302.

Carling, D., Aguan, K., Woods, A., Verhoeven, A. J., Beri, R. K., Brennan, C. H., Sidebottom, C., Davison, M. D., and Scott, J. (1994). Mammalian AMPactivated protein kinase is homologous to yeast and plant protein kinases involved in the regulation of carbon metabolism. J Biol Chem 269, 11442-11448.

Cockman, M. E., Masson, N., Mole, D. R., Jaakkola, P., Chang, G. W., Clifford, S. C., Maher, E. R., Pugh, C. W., Ratcliffe, P. J., and Maxwell, P. H. (2000). Hypoxia inducible factor-alpha binding and ubiquitylation by the von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor protein. J Biol Chem 275, 25733-25741.

Collins, S. P., Reoma, J. L., Gamm, D. M., and Uhler, M. D. (2000). LKB1, a novel serine/threonine protein kinase and potential tumour suppressor, is phosphorylated by cAMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA) and prenylated in vivo. Biochem J *345 Pt 3*, 673-80.

Connolly, D. C., Katabuchi, H., Cliby, W. A., and Cho, K. R. (2000). Somatic mutations in the STK11/LKB1 gene are uncommon in rare gynecological tumor types associated with Peutz-Jegher's syndrome. Am J Pathol *156*, 339-45.

Dameron, K. M., Volpert, O. V., Tainsky, M. A., and Bouck, N. (1994). Control of angiogenesis in fibroblasts by p53 regulation of thrombospondin-1. Science 265, 1582-1584. Daibo, M., Itabashi, M., and Hirota, T. (1987). Malignant transformation of gastric hyperplastic polyps. Am J Gastroenterol *82*, 1016-25.

De Facq, L., De Sutter, J., De Man, M., Van der Spek, P., and Lepoutre, L. (1995). A case of Peutz-Jeghers syndrome with nasal polyposis, extreme iron deficiency anemia, and hamartoma-adenoma transformation: management by combined surgical and endoscopic approach. Am J Gastroenterol *90*, 1330-2.

Defago, M. R., Higa, A. L., Campra, J. L., Paradelo, M., Uehara, A., Torres Mazzucchi, M. H., and Videla, R. (1996). Carcinoma in situ arising in a gastric hamartomatous polyp in a patient with Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Endoscopy 28, 267.

Desai, D. C., Neale, K. F., Talbot, I. C., Hodgson, S. V., and Phillips, R. K. (1995). Juvenile polyposis. Br J Surg 82, 14-7.

Dong, S. M., Kim, K. M., Kim, S. Y., Shin, M. S., Na, E. Y., Lee, S. H., Park, W. S., Yoo, N. J., Jang, J. J., Yoon, C. Y., *et al.* (1998). Frequent somatic mutations in serine/threonine kinase 11/Peutz-Jeghers syndrome gene in left-sided colon cancer. Cancer Res *58*, 3787-3790.

Dozois, R. R., Judd, E. S., Dahlin, D. C., and Bartholomew, L. G. (1969). The Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Is there a predisposition to the development of intestinal malignancy? Arch Surg *98*, 509-17.

Dong, S. M., Kim, K. M., Kim, S. Y., Shin, M. S., Na, E. Y., Lee, S. H., Park, W. S., Yoo, N. J., Jang, J. J., Yoon, C. Y., Kim, J. W., Yang, Y. M., Kim, S. H., Kim, C. S., and Lee, J. Y. (1998). Frequent somatic mutations in serine/threonine kinase 11/Peutz-Jeghers syndrome gene in left-sided colon cancer. Cancer Res *58*, 3787-90.

Dormandy, T.L. (1957) Gastrointestinal polyposis with mucocutaneous pigmentation (Peutz-Jeghers Syndrome). N Engl J Med, 256, 1093-1103, 1141-1146, 1186-1190

Dozois, R. R., Judd, E. S., Dahlin, D. C., and Bartholomew, L. G. (1969). The Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Is there a predisposition to the development of intestinal malignancy? Arch Surg *98*, 509-17.

Entius, M. M., Keller, J. J., Westerman, A. M., van Rees, B. P., van Velthuysen, M. L., de Goeij, A. F., Wilson, J. H., Giardiello, F. M., and Offerhaus, G. J. (2001). Molecular genetic alterations in hamartomatous polyps and carcinomas of patients with Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. J Clin Pathol *54*, 126-31.

Entius, M. M., Westerman, A. M., Giardiello, F. M., van Velthuysen, M. L., Polak, M. M., Slebos, R. J., Wilson, J. H., Hamilton, S. R., and Offerhaus, G. J. (1997). Peutz-Jeghers polyps, dysplasia, and K-ras codon 12 mutations. Gut *41*, 320-2.

Esteller, M., Avizienyte, E., Corn, P. G., Lothe, R. A., Baylin, S. B., Aaltonen, L. A., and Herman, J. G. (2000). Epigenetic inactivation of LKB1 in primary tumors associated with the Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Oncogene *19*, 164-168.

Fearon, E. R., and Vogelstein, B. (1990). A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell *61*, 759-67. Fero, M. L., Randel, E., Gurley, K. E., Roberts, J. M., and Kemp, C. J. (1998). The murine gene p27Kip1 is haplo-

insufficient for tumour suppression. Nature *396*, 177-80.

Ferrer, A., Caelles, C., Massot, N., and Hegardt, F. G. (1985). Activation of rat liver cytosolic 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase kinase by adenosine 5'-monophosphate. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *132*, 497-504.

Finan, M. C., and Ray, M. K. (1989). Gastrointestinal polyposis syndromes. Dermatol Clin 7, 419-34.

FitzGerald, M. G., Harkin, D. P., Silva-Arrieta, S., MacDonald, D. J., Lucchina, L. C., Unsal, H., O'Neill, E., Koh, J., Finkelstein, D. M., Isselbacher, K. J., Sober, A. J., and Haber, D. A. (1996). Prevalence of germ-line mutations in p16, p19ARF, and CDK4 in familial melanoma: analysis of a clinic-based population. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 8541-5.

Foley, T. R., McGarrity, T. J., and Abt, A. B. (1988). Peutz-Jeghers syndrome: a clinicopathologic survey of the "Harrisburg family" with a 49-year follow-up. Gastroenterology *95*, 1535-40.

Forster, L. F., Defres, S., Goudie, D. R., Baty, D. U., and Carey, F. A. (2000). An investigation of the Peutz-Jeghers gene (LKB1) in sporadic breast and colon cancers. J Clin Pathol *53*, 791-3.

Forsythe, J. A., Jiang, B. H., Iyer, N. V., Agani, F., Leung, S. W., Koos, R. D., and Semenza, G. L. (1996). Activation of vascular endothelial growth factor gene transcription by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Mol Cell Biol *16*, 4604-4613.

Fulcheri, E., Baracchini, P., Pagani, A., Lapertosa, G., and Bussolati, G. (1991). Significance of the smooth muscle cell component in Peutz-Jeghers and juvenile polyps. Hum Pathol 22, 1136-40.

Giardiello, F. M., Brensinger, J. D., Tersmette, A. C., Goodman, S. N., Petersen, G. M., Booker, S. V., Cruz-Correa, M., and Offerhaus, J. A. (2000). Very high risk of cancer in familial peutzjeghers syndrome. Gastroenterology *119*, 1447-53.

Giardiello, F. M., Hamilton, S. R., Kern, S. E., Offerhaus, G. J., Green, P. A., Celano, P., Krush, A. J., and Booker, S. V. (1991). Colorectal neoplasia in juvenile polyposis or juvenile polyps. Arch Dis Child *66*, 971-5.

Giardiello, F. M., and Offerhaus, J. G. (1995). Phenotype and cancer risk of various polyposis syndromes. Eur J Cancer *31A*, 1085-7.

Giardiello, F. M., Welsh, S. B., Hamilton, S. R., Offerhaus, G. J., Gittelsohn, A. M., Booker, S. V., Krush, A. J., Yardley, J. H., and Luk, G. D. (1987). Increased risk of cancer in the Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. N Engl J Med *316*, 1511-4.

Gilks, C. B., Young, R. H., Aguirre, P., DeLellis, R. A., and Scully, R. E. (1989). Adenoma malignum (minimal deviation adenocarcinoma) of the uterine cervix. A clinicopathological and immunohistochemical analysis of 26 cases. Am J Surg Pathol *13*, 717-29.

Gnarra, J. R., Ward, J. M., Porter, F. D., Wagner, J. R., Devor, D. E., Grinberg, A., Emmert-Buck, M. R., Westphal, H., Klausner, R. D., and Linehan, W. M. (1997). Defective placental vasculogenesis causes embryonic lethality in VHL- deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 9102-9107.

Gruber, S. B., Entius, M. M., Petersen, G. M., Laken, S. J., Longo, P. A., Boyer, R., Levin, A. M., Mujumdar, U. J., Trent, J. M., Kinzler, K. W., Vogelstein, B., Hamilton, S. R., Polymeropoulos, M. H., Offerhaus, G. J., and Giardiello, F. M. (1998). Pathogenesis of adenocarcinoma in Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Cancer Res *58*, 5267-70.

Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. Cell *100*, 57-70.

Hanks, S. K., Quinn, A. M., and Hunter, T. (1988). The protein kinase family: conserved features and deduced phylogeny of the catalytic domains. Science 241, 42-52

Hanssen, A. M., and Fryns, J. P. (1995). Cowden syndrome. J Med Genet *32*, 117-9.

Harada, H., Nakagawa, K., Iwata, S., Saito, M., Kumon, Y., Sakaki, S., Sato, K., and Hamada, K. (1999). Restoration of wild-type p16 down-regulates vascular endothelial growth factor expression and inhibits angiogenesis in human gliomas. Cancer Res *59*, 3783-3789

Harwood, H. J., Jr., Brandt, K. G., and Rodwell, V. W. (1984). Allosteric activation of rat liver cytosolic 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase kinase by nucleoside diphosphates. J Biol Chem 259, 2810-2815 Helmlinger, G., Yuan, F., Dellian, M., and Jain, R. K. (1997). Interstitial pH and pO2 gradients in solid tumors in vivo: high-resolution measurements reveal a lack of correlation. Nat Med *3*, 177-82.

Hemminki, A. (1999). The molecular basis and clinical aspects of Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Cell Mol Life Sci *55*, 735-50.

Hemminki, A., Markie, D., Tomlinson, I., Avizienyte, E., Roth, S., Loukola, A., Bignell, G., Warren, W., Aminoff, M., Hoglund, P., Jarvinen, H., Kristo, P., Pelin, K., Ridanpaa, M., Salovaara, R., Toro, T., Bodmer, W., Olschwang, S., Olsen, A. S., Stratton, M. R., de la Chapelle, A., and Aaltonen, L. A. (1998). A serine/threonine kinase gene defective in Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Nature *391*, 184-7.

Hemminki, A., Tomlinson, I., Markie, D., Jarvinen, H., Sistonen, P., Bjorkqvist, A. M., Knuutila, S., Salovaara, R., Bodmer, W., Shibata, D., de la Chapelle, A., and Aaltonen, L. A. (1997). Localization of a susceptibility locus for Peutz-Jeghers syndrome to 19p using comparative genomic hybridization and targeted linkage analysis. Nat Genet 15, 87-90.

Herruzo, A. J., Redondo, E., Perez de Avila, I., Aleman, M., and Menjon, S. (1990). Ovarian sex cord tumor with annular tubules and Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol *11*, 141-4.

Hizawa, K., Iida, M., Matsumoto, T., Kohrogi, N., Yao, T., and Fujishima, M. (1993). Neoplastic transformation arising in Peutz-Jeghers polyposis. Dis Colon Rectum *36*, 953-7. Howe, J. R., Roth, S., Ringold, J. C., Summers, R. W., Jarvinen, H. J., Sistonen, P., Tomlinson, I. P., Houlston, R. S., Bevan, S., Mitros, F. A., Stone, E. M., and Aaltonen, L. A. (1998). Mutations in the SMAD4/DPC4 gene in juvenile polyposis. Science 280, 1086-8.

Howe, J. R., Bair, J. L., Sayed, M. G., Anderson, M. E., Mitros, F. A., Petersen, G. M., Velculescu, V. E., Traverso, G., and Vogelstein, B. (2001). Germline mutations of the gene encoding bone morphogenetic protein receptor 1A in juvenile polyposis. Nat Genet 28, 184-187.

Hung, T. J., and Kemphues, K. J. (1999). PAR-6 is a conserved PDZ domaincontaining protein that colocalizes with PAR-3 in Caenorhabditis elegans embryos. Development *126*, 127-135

Hutchinson J. (1896) Pigmentation of lips and mouth. Arch. Surgery 7: 290

Izumi, Y., Hirose, T., Tamai, Y., Hirai, S., Nagashima, Y., Fujimoto, T., Tabuse, Y., Kemphues, K. J., and Ohno, S. (1998). An atypical PKC directly associates and colocalizes at the epithelial tight junction with ASIP, a mammalian homologue of Caenorhabditis elegans polarity protein PAR-3. J Cell Biol *143*, 95-106.

Jancu, J. (1971). Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Involvement of the gastrointestinal and upper respiratory tracts. Am J Gastroenterol 56, 545-549.

Jarvinen, H., and Franssila, K. O. (1984). Familial juvenile polyposis coli; increased risk of colorectal cancer. Gut *25*, 792-800.

Jass, J. R., Young, P. J., and Robinson, E. M. (1992). Predictors of presence,

multiplicity, size and dysplasia of colorectal adenomas. A necropsy study in New Zealand. Gut *33*, 1508-1514.

Jeghers, H. (1944) Pigmentation of the skin. New Engl.J.Med, 231:122-189

Jeghers H., McKusickV.A.and Katz K.H. (1949) Generalized intestinal polyposis and melanin spots of the oral mucosa,lips and digits. New Engl.J.Med. *241*:992 –1005, 1031–1006

Jenne, D. E., Reimann, H., Nezu, J., Friedel, W., Loff, S., Jeschke, R., Muller, O., Back, W., and Zimmer, M. (1998). Peutz-Jeghers syndrome is caused by mutations in a novel serine threonine kinase. Nat Genet *18*, 38-43.

Jiang, B. H., Rue, E., Wang, G. L., Roe, R., and Semenza, G. L. (1996). Dimerization, DNA binding, and transactivation properties of hypoxiainducible factor 1. J Biol Chem 271, 17771-17778.

Jiang, C. Y., Esufali, S., Berk, T., Gallinger, S., Cohen, Z., Tobi, M., Redston, M., and Bapat, B. (1999). STK11/LKB1 germline mutations are not identified in most Peutz-Jeghers syndrome patients. Clin Genet *56*, 136-41.

Johansson, A., Driessens, M., and Aspenstrom, P. (2000). The mammalian homologue of the Caenorhabditis elegans polarity protein PAR-6 is a binding partner for the Rho GTPases Cdc42 and Rac1. J Cell Sci *113*, 3267-75.

Kallio, P. J., Okamoto, K., O'Brien, S., Carrero, P., Makino, Y., Tanaka, H., and Poellinger, L. (1998). Signal transduction in hypoxic cells: inducible nuclear translocation and recruitment of the CBP/p300 coactivator by the hypoxiainducible factor-1alpha. Embo J *17*, 6573-6586.

Karuman, P., Gozani, O., Odze, R. D., Zhou, X. C., Zhu, H., Shaw, R., Brien, T. P., Bozzuto, C. D., Ooi, D., Cantley, L. C., and Yuan, J. (2001). The Peutz-Jegher gene product LKB1 is a mediator of p53dependent cell death. Mol Cell *7*, 1307-19.

Keating, M. A., Young, R. H., Lillehei, C. W., and Retik, A. B. (1987). Hamartoma of the bladder in a 4-year-old girl with hamartomatous polyps of the gastrointestinal tract. J Urol *138*, 366-369.

Kemphues, K. J., Priess, J. R., Morton, D. G., and Cheng, N. S. (1988). Identification of genes required for cytoplasmic localization in early C. elegans embryos. Cell *52*, 311-20.

Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. (1997). Cancer-susceptibility genes. Gatekeepers and caretakers. Nature *386*, 761, 763.

Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. (1998). Landscaping the cancer terrain. Science 280, 1036-7.

Knudson, A. G., Jr. (1971). Mutation and cancer: statistical study of retinoblastoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *68*, 820-3.

Lallemand, Y., Luria, V., Haffner-Krausz, R., and Lonai, P. (1998). Maternally expressed PGK-Cre transgene as a tool for early and uniform activation of the Cre site-specific recombinase. Transgenic Res 7, 105-112.

Laughlin, E. H. (1991). Benign and malignant neoplasms in a family with Peutz-Jeghers syndrome: study of three generations. South Med J 84, 1205-9. Launonen, V., Avizienyte, E., Loukola, A., Laiho, P., Salovaara, R., Jarvinen, H., Mecklin, J. P., Oku, A., Shimane, M., Kim, H. C., Kim, J. C., Nezu, J., and Aaltonen, L. A. (2000). No evidence of Peutz-Jeghers syndrome gene LKB1 involvement in left- sided colorectal carcinomas. Cancer Res *60*, 546-8.

Lee, W. H., Bookstein, R., Hong, F., Young, L. J., Shew, J. Y., and Lee, E. Y. (1987). Human retinoblastoma susceptibility gene: cloning, identification, and sequence. Science 235, 1394-9.

Liaw, D., Marsh, D. J., Li, J., Dahia, P. L., Wang, S. I., Zheng, Z., Bose, S., Call, K. M., Tsou, H. C., Peacocke, M., Eng, C., and Parsons, R. (1997). Germline mutations of the PTEN gene in Cowden disease, an inherited breast and thyroid cancer syndrome. Nat Genet *16*, 64-7.

Lin, D., Edwards, A. S., Fawcett, J. P., Mbamalu, G., Scott, J. D., and Pawson, T. (2000). A mammalian PAR-3-PAR-6 complex implicated in Cdc42/Rac1 and aPKC signalling and cell polarity. Nat Cell Biol 2, 540-7.

Linos, D. A., Dozois, R. R., Dahlin, D. C., and Bartholomew, L. G. (1981). Does Peutz-Jeghers syndrome predispose to gastrointestinal malignancy? A later look. Arch Surg *116*, 1182-4.

Luukko, K., Moshnyakov, M., Sainio, K., Saarma, M., Sariola, H., and Thesleff, I. (1996). Expression of neurotrophin receptors during rat tooth development is developmentally regulated, independent of innervation, and suggests functions in the regulation of morphogenesis and innervation. Dev Dyn 206, 87-99. Lynch, E. D., Ostermeyer, E. A., Lee, M. K., Arena, J. F., Ji, H., Dann, J., Swisshelm, K., Suchard, D., MacLeod, P. M., Kvinnsland, S., Gjertsen, B. T., Heimdal, K., Lubs, H., Moller, P., and King, M. C. (1997). Inherited mutations in PTEN that are associated with breast cancer, cowden disease, and juvenile polyposis. Am J Hum Genet *61*, 1254-60.

Maehama, T., and Dixon, J. E. (1998). The tumor suppressor, PTEN/MMAC1, dephosphorylates the lipid second messenger, phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5trisphosphate. J Biol Chem *273*, 13375-8.

Mallory, S. B., and Stough, D. B. t. (1987). Genodermatoses with malignant potential. Dermatol Clin *5*, 221-30.

Marignani, P. A., Kanai, F., and Carpenter, C. L. (2001). Lkb1 associates with brg1 and is necessary for brg1induced growth arrest. J Biol Chem 276, 32415-8.

Maxwell, P. H., Wiesener, M. S., Chang, G. W., Clifford, S. C., Vaux, E. C., Cockman, M. E., Wykoff, C. C., Pugh, C. W., Maher, E. R., and Ratcliffe, P. J. (1999). The tumour suppressor protein VHL targets hypoxia-inducible factors for oxygen-dependent proteolysis. Nature 399, 271-5.

Mehenni, H., Blouin, J. L., Radhakrishna, U., Bhardwaj, S. S., Bhardwaj, K., Dixit, V. B., Richards, K. F., Bermejo-Fenoll, A., Leal, A. S., Raval, R. C., and Antonarakis, S. E. (1997). Peutz-Jeghers syndrome: confirmation of linkage to chromosome 19p13.3 and identification of a potential second locus, on 19q13.4. Am J Hum Genet *61*, 1327-34. Mehenni, H., Gehrig, C., Nezu, J., Oku, A., Shimane, M., Rossier, C., Guex, N., Blouin, J. L., Scott, H. S., and Antonarakis, S. E. (1998). Loss of LKB1 kinase activity in peutz-jeghers syndrome, and evidence for allelic and locus heterogeneity. Am J Hum Genet *63*, 1641-50.

Milanini, J., Vinals, F., Pouyssegur, J., and Pages, G. (1998). p42/p44 MAP kinase module plays a key role in the transcriptional regulation of the vascular endothelial growth factor gene in fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 273, 18165-18172

Miyaki, M., Iijima, T., Hosono, K., Ishii, R., Yasuno, M., Mori, T., Toi, M., Hishima, T., Shitara, N., Tamura, K., Utsunomiya, J., Kobayashi, N., Kuroki, T., and Iwama, T. (2000). Somatic mutations of LKB1 and beta-catenin genes in gastrointestinal polyps from patients with Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Cancer Res *60*, 6311-3.

Mukhopadhyay, D., Knebelmann, B., Cohen, H. T., Ananth, S., and Sukhatme, V. P. (1997). The von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor gene product interacts with Sp1 to repress vascular endothelial growth factor promoter activity. Mol Cell Biol *17*, 5629-5639.

Myers, M. P., Pass, I., Batty, I. H., Van der Kaay, J., Stolarov, J. P., Hemmings, B. A., Wigler, M. H., Downes, C. P., and Tonks, N. K. (1998). The lipid phosphatase activity of PTEN is critical for its tumor supressor function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 13513-8.

Nakagawa, H., Koyama, K., Miyoshi, Y., Ando, H., Baba, S., Watatani, M., Yasutomi, M., Matsuura, N., Monden, M., and Nakamura, Y. (1998). Nine novel germline mutations of STK11 in ten families with Peutz- Jeghers syndrome. Hum Genet *103*, 168-72.

Nakagawa, H., Koyama, K., Nakamori, S., Kameyama, M., Imaoka, S., Monden, M., and Nakamura, Y. (1999). Frameshift mutation of the STK11 gene in a sporadic gastrointestinal cancer with microsatellite instability. Jpn J Cancer Res *90*, 633-7.

Nakagawa, H., Koyama, K., Tanaka, T., Miyoshi, Y., Ando, H., Baba, S., Watatani, M., Yasutomi, M., Monden, M., and Nakamura, Y. (1998). Localization of the gene responsible for Peutz-Jeghers syndrome within a 6-cM region of chromosome 19p13.3. Hum Genet *102*, 203-6.

Nelen, M. R., van Staveren, W. C., Peeters, E. A., Hassel, M. B., Gorlin, R. J., Hamm, H., Lindboe, C. F., Fryns, J. P., Sijmons, R. H., Woods, D. G., Mariman, E. C., Padberg, G. W., and Kremer, H. (1997). Germline mutations in the PTEN/MMAC1 gene in patients with Cowden disease. Hum Mol Genet *6*, 1383-7.

Nezu, J., Oku, A., and Shimane, M. (1999). Loss of cytoplasmic retention ability of mutant LKB1 found in Peutz-Jeghers syndrome patients. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *261*, 750-755.

Ohh, M., Park, C. W., Ivan, M., Hoffman, M. A., Kim, T. Y., Huang, L. E., Pavletich, N., Chau, V., and Kaelin, W. G. (2000). Ubiquitination of hypoxiainducible factor requires direct binding to the beta-domain of the von Hippel-Lindau protein. Nat Cell Biol *2*, 423-427 Olschwang, S., Boisson, C., and Thomas, G. (2001). Peutz-Jeghers families unlinked to STK11/LKB1 gene mutations are highly predisposed to primitive biliary adenocarcinoma. J Med Genet *38*, 356-60.

Olschwang, S., Markie, D., Seal, S., Neale, K., Phillips, R., Cottrell, S., Ellis, I., Hodgson, S., Zauber, P., Spigelman, A., Iwama, T., Loff, S., McKeown, C., Marchese, C., Sampson, J., Davies, S., Talbot, I., Wyke, J., Thomas, G., Bodmer, W., Hemminki, A., Avizienyte, E., de la Chapelle, A., Aaltonen, L., Tomlinson, I., and et al. (1998). Peutz-Jeghers disease: most, but not all, families are compatible with linkage to 19p13.3. J Med Genet 35, 42-4.

Olschwang, S., Serova-Sinilnikova, O. M., Lenoir, G. M., and Thomas, G. (1998). PTEN germ-line mutations in juvenile polyposis coli. Nat Genet *18*, 12-4.

Pal, S., Claffey, K. P., Cohen, H. T., and Mukhopadhyay, D. (1998). Activation of Sp1-mediated vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor transcription requires specific interaction with protein kinase C zeta. J Biol Chem 273, 26277-26280.

Parada, L. F., Tabin, C. J., Shih, C., and Weinberg, R. A. (1982). Human EJ bladder carcinoma oncogene is homologue of Harvey sarcoma virus ras gene. Nature 297, 474-8.

Perzin, K. H., and Bridge, M. F. (1982). Adenomatous and carcinomatous changes in hamartomatous polyps of the small intestine (Peutz-Jeghers syndrome): report of a case and review of the literature. Cancer 49, 971-83. Peto, J. (2001). Cancer epidemiology in the last century and the next decade. Nature *411*, 390-5.

Peutz JLA. (1921) Very remarkable case mucous familial polyposis of of intestinal membrane of tract and nasopharynx accompanied by peculiar pigmentations of skin and mucous membrane. Ned.Maandschr Geneesk 10, 134-146

Ponder, B. A. (2001). Cancer genetics. Nature *411*, 336-41.

Qiu, R. G., Abo, A., and Steven Martin, G. (2000). A human homolog of the C. elegans polarity determinant Par-6 links Rac and Cdc42 to PKCzeta signaling and cell transformation. Curr Biol *10*, 697-707.

Ravi, R., Mookerjee, B., Bhujwalla, Z. M., Sutter, C. H., Artemov, D., Zeng, Q., Dillehay, L. E., Madan, A., Semenza, G. L., and Bedi, A. (2000). Regulation of tumor angiogenesis by p53-induced degradation of hypoxia- inducible factor lalpha. Genes Dev *14*, 34-44.

Resta, N., Simone, C., Mareni, C., Montera, M., Gentile, M., Susca, F., Gristina, R., Pozzi, S., Bertario, L., Bufo, P., Carlomagno, N., Ingrosso, M., Rossini, F. P., Tenconi, R., and Guanti, G. (1998). STK11 mutations in Peutz-Jeghers syndrome and sporadic colon cancer. Cancer Res 58, 4799-801.

Resta, N., Simone, C., Mareni, C., Montera, M., Gentile, M., Susca, F., Gristina, R., Pozzi, S., Bertario, L., Bufo, P., Carlomagno, N., Ingrosso, M., Rossini, F. P., Tenconi, R., and Guanti, G. (1998). STK11 mutations in Peutz-Jeghers syndrome and sporadic colon cancer. Cancer Res 58, 4799-801.

Roberts, C. W., Galusha, S. A., McMenamin, M. E., Fletcher, C. D., and Orkin, S. H. (2000). Haploinsufficiency of Snf5 (integrase interactor 1) predisposes to malignant rhabdoid tumors in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 13796-800.

Rosai J. (ed.) (1996) Ackerman 's Surgical Pathology, 8th ed., Mosby,St.Louis,MO

Rowan, A., Bataille, V., MacKie, R., Healy, E., Bicknell, D., Bodmer, W., and Tomlinson, I. (1999). Somatic mutations in the Peutz-Jeghers (LKB1/STKII) gene in sporadic malignant melanomas. J Invest Dermatol *112*, 509-11.

Rowan, A., Churchman, M., Jefferey, R., Hanby, A., Poulsom, R., and Tomlinson, I. (2000). In situ analysis of LKB1/STK11 mRNA expression in human normal tissues and tumours. J Pathol *192*, 203-6.

Sapkota, G. P., Kieloch, A., Lizcano, J. M., Lain, S., Arthur, J. S., Williams, M. R., Morrice, N., Deak, M., and Alessi, D. R. (2001). Phosphorylation of the protein kinase mutated in Peutz-Jeghers cancer syndrome, LKB1/STK11, at Ser431 by p90(RSK) and cAMP-dependent protein kinase, but not its farnesylation at Cys(433), is essential for LKB1 to suppress cell vrowth. J Biol Chem 276, 19469-82.

Sassatelli, R., Bertoni, G., Serra, L., Bedogni, G., and Ponz de Leon, M. (1993). Generalized juvenile polyposis with mixed pattern and gastric cancer. Gastroenterology *104*, 910-5. Scully, R. E. (1970). Sex cord tumor with annular tubules a distinctive ovarian tumor of the Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Cancer 25, 1107-21.

Semenza, G. L., Roth, P. H., Fang, H. M., and Wang, G. L. (1994). Transcriptional regulation of genes encoding glycolytic enzymes by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. J Biol Chem 269, 23757-23763.

Siemeister, G., Weindel, K., Mohrs, K., Barleon, B., Martiny-Baron, G., and Marme, D. (1996). Reversion of deregulated expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in human renal carcinoma cells by von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor protein. Cancer Res *56*, 2299-2301

Smith, D. P., Spicer, J., Smith, A., Swift, S., and Ashworth, A. (1999). The mouse Peutz-Jeghers syndrome gene Lkb1 encodes a nuclear protein kinase. Hum Mol Genet *8*, 1479-85.

Smits, R., Ruiz, P., Diaz-Cano, S., Luz, A., Jagmohan-Changur, S., Breukel, C., Birchmeier, C., Birchmeier, W., and Fodde, R. (2000). E-cadherin and adenomatous polyposis coli mutations are synergistic in intestinal tumor initiation in mice. Gastroenterology *119*, 1045-53.

Sobottka, S. B., Haase, M., Fitze, G., Hahn, M., Schackert, H. K., and Schackert, G. (2000). Frequent loss of heterozygosity at the 19p13.3 locus without LKB1/STK11 mutations in human carcinoma metastases to the brain. J Neurooncol 49, 187-95.

Sommerhaug, R. G., and Mason, T. (1970). Peutz-Jeghers syndrome and ureteral polyposis. Jama *211*, 120-122.

Spigelman, A. D. and Phillips (1994). Peutz-Jeghers syndrome, Familial Adenomatous and other polyposis syndromes. Eds. Phillips, R.K.S, Spigelman, A.D. and Tomlnson, J.P.S., Edward Arnold, London, 189-202

Spigelman, A. D., Murday, V., and Phillips, R. K. (1989). Cancer and the Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Gut *30*, 1588-90.

Srivatsa, P. J., Keeney, G. L., and Podratz, K. C. (1994). Disseminated cervical adenoma malignum and bilateral ovarian sex cord tumors with annular tubules associated with Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Gynecol Oncol *53*, 256-64.

Stambolic, V., Suzuki, A., de la Pompa, J. L., Brothers, G. M., Mirtsos, C., Sasaki, T., Ruland, J., Penninger, J. M., Siderovski, D. P., and Mak, T. W. (1998). Negative regulation of PKB/Aktdependent cell survival by the tumor suppressor PTEN [In Process Citation]. Cell *95*, 29-39.

Su, G. H., Hruban, R. H., Bansal, R. K., Bova, G. S., Tang, D. J., Shekher, M. C., Westerman, A. M., Entius, M. M., Goggins, M., Yeo, C. J., and Kern, S. E. (1999). Germline and somatic mutations of the STK11/LKB1 Peutz-Jeghers gene in pancreatic and biliary cancers. Am J Pathol *154*, 1835-40.

Su, J. Y., Erikson, E., and Maller, J. L. (1996). Cloning and characterization of a novel serine/threonine protein kinase expressed in early Xenopus embryos. J Biol Chem *271*, 14430-7.

Schwarte-Waldhoff, I., Volpert, O. V., Bouck, N. P., Sipos, B., Hahn, S. A., Klein-Scory, S., Luttges, J., Kloppel, G., Graeven, U., Eilert-Micus, C., *et al.* (2000). Smad4/DPC4-mediated tumor suppression through suppression of angiogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97, 9624-9629

Szyfelbein, W. M., Young, R. H., and Scully, R. E. (1984). Adenoma malignum of the cervix. Cytologic findings. Acta Cytol 28, 691-8.

Tamura, M., Gu, J., Matsumoto, K., Aota, S., Parsons, R., and Yamada, K. M. (1998). Inhibition of cell migration, spreading, and focal adhesions by tumor suppressor PTEN. Science *280*, 1614-7.

Tomlinson, I., and Houston, R. (1997). Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. J Med Genet 34, 1007-1011

Trojan, J., Brieger, A., Raedle, J., Esteller, M., and Zeuzem, S. (2000). 5'-CpG island methylation of the LKB1/STK11 promoter and allelic loss at chromosome 19p13.3 in sporadic colorectal cancer. Gut 47, 272-276.

Utsunomiya, J., Gocho, H., Miyanaga, T., Hamaguchi, E., and Kashimure, A. (1975). Peutz-Jeghers syndrome: its natural course and management. Johns Hopkins Med J *136*, 71-82.

Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K. W. (1993). The multistep nature of cancer. Trends Genet *9*, 138-41.

Wang, G. L., Jiang, B. H., Rue, E. A., and Semenza, G. L. (1995). Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 is a basic-helix-loop-helix-PAS heterodimer regulated by cellular O2 tension. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 5510-5514

Wang, Z. J., Churchman, M., Avizienyte, E., McKeown, C., Davies, S., Evans, D.

References

G., Ferguson, A., Ellis, I., Xu, W. H., Yan, Z. Y., Aaltonen, L. A., and Tomlinson, I. P. (1999). Germline mutations of the LKB1 (STK11) gene in Peutz-Jeghers patients. J Med Genet *36*, 365-8.

Wang, Z. J., Churchman, M., Campbell, I. G., Xu, W. H., Yan, Z. Y., McCluggage, W. G., Foulkes, W. D., and Tomlinson, I. P. (1999). Allele loss and mutation screen at the Peutz-Jeghers (LKB1) locus (19p13.3) in sporadic ovarian tumours. Br J Cancer *80*, 70-2.

Wang, Z. J., Ellis, I., Zauber, P., Iwama, T., Marchese, C., Talbot, I., Xue, W. H., Yan, Z. Y., and Tomlinson, I. (1999). Allelic imbalance at the LKB1 (STK11) locus in tumours from patients with Peutz-Jeghers' syndrome provides evidence for a hamartoma- (adenoma)-carcinoma sequence. J Pathol *188*, 9-13.

Watts, J. L., Etemad-Moghadam, B., Guo, S., Boyd, L., Draper, B. W., Mello, C. C., Priess, J. R., and Kemphues, K. J. (1996). par-6, a gene involved in the establishment of asymmetry in early C. elegans embryos, mediates the asymmetric localization of PAR-3. Development *122*, 3133-40.

Watts, J. L., Morton, D. G., Bestman, J., and Kemphues, K. J. (2000). The C. elegans par-4 gene encodes a putative serine-threonine kinase required for establishing embryonic asymmetry. Development *127*, 1467-75.

Weinberg, R. A. (1995). The molecular basis of oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes. Ann N Y Acad Sci 758, 331-8.

Weinstock, J. V., and Kawanishi, H. (1978). Gastrointestinal polyposis with

orocutaneous hamartomas (Cowden's disease). Gastroenterology 74, 890-5.

Westerman, A. M., Entius, M. M., de Baar, E., Boor, P. P., Koole, R., van Velthuysen, M. L., Offerhaus, G. J., Lindhout, D., de Rooij, F. W., and Wilson, J. H. (1999). Peutz-Jeghers syndrome: 78year follow-up of the original family. Lancet 353, 1211-5.

Westerman, A. M., Entius, M. M., Boor, P. P., Koole, R., de Baar, E., Offerhaus, G. J., Lubinski, J., Lindhout, D., Halley, D. J., de Rooij, F. W., and Wilson, J. H. (1999). Novel mutations in the LKB1/STK11 gene in Dutch Peutz-Jeghers families. Hum Mutat *13*, 476-81.

Westerman A.M., Chong Y.K., Entius M.M., Wilson, J.H.P., van Velthuysen, Lindhout, D. & Offerhaus, G.J.A. (1997) The diagnostic value of mucocutaneous pigmentation in Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. The 9th Annual Meeting of the International Collaborative Groop on Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer and the 7th Biennial Meeting of the Leeds Castle Polyposis Group.

Wetmore, C., Eberhart, D. E., and Curran, T. (2000). The normal patched allele is expressed in medulloblastomas from mice with heterozygous germ-line mutation of patched. Cancer Res *60*, 2239-46.

Whelan, A. J., Bartsch, D., and Goodfellow, P. J. (1995). Brief report: a familial syndrome of pancreatic cancer and melanoma with a mutation in the CDKN2 tumor-suppressor gene. N Engl J Med *333*, 975-7.

Wilkinson, D. G., Bhatt, S., and Herrmann, B. G. (1990). Expression pattern of the mouse T gene and its role in mesoderm formation. Nature 343, 657-659.

Wood, S. M., Gleadle, J. M., Pugh, C. W., Hankinson, O., and Ratcliffe, P. J. (1996). The role of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator (ARNT) in hypoxic induction of gene expression. Studies in ARNT-deficient cells. J Biol Chem 271, 15117-15123

Xiong, S., Grijalva, R., Zhang, L., Nguyen, N. T., Pisters, P. W., Pollock, R. E., and Yu, D. (2001). Up-regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor in breast cancer cells by the heregulin-beta1activated p38 signaling pathway enhances endothelial cell migration. Cancer Res *61*, 1727-1732.

Xu, X., Brodie, S. G., Yang, X., Im, Y. H., Parks, W. T., Chen, L., Zhou, Y. X., Weinstein, M., Kim, S. J., and Deng, C. X. (2000). Haploid loss of the tumor suppressor Smad4/Dpc4 initiates gastric polyposis and cancer in mice. Oncogene *19*, 1868-74.

Yamada, K., Matsukawa, A., Hori, Y., and Kukita, A. (1981). Ultrastructural studies on pigmented macules of Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. J Dermatol *8*, 367-77.

Ylikorkala, A., Avizienyte, E., Tomlinson, I. P. M., Tiainen, M., Roth, S., Loukola, A., Hemminki, A., Johansson, M., Sistonen, P., Markie, D., Neale, K., Phillips, R., Zauber, P., Twama, T., Sampson, J., Järvinen, H., Makela, T. P., and Aaltonen, L. A. (1999). Mutations and impaired function of LKB1 in familial and non-familial Peutz-Jeghers syndrome and a sporadic testicular cancer. Hum Mol Genet 8, 45-51.

Yoon, K. A., Ku, J. L., Choi, H. S., Heo, S. C., Jeong, S. Y., Park, Y. J., Kim, N. K., Kim, J. C., Jung, P. M., and Park, J. G. (2000). Germline mutations of the STK11 gene in Korean Peutz-Jeghers syndrome patients. Br J Cancer 82, 1403-6.

Young, R. H., Dickersin, G. R., and Scully, R. E. (1983). A distinctive ovarian sex cord-stromal tumor causing sexual precocity in the Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Am J Surg Pathol 7, 233-43.

Young, R. H., and Scully, R. E. (1988). Mucinous ovarian tumors associated with mucinous adenocarcinomas of the cervix. A clinicopathological analysis of 16 cases. Int J Gynecol Pathol 7, 99-111.

Young, R. H., Welch, W. R., Dickersin, G. R., and Scully, R. E. (1982). Ovarian sex cord tumor with annular tubules: review of 74 cases including 27 with Peutz-Jeghers syndrome and four with adenoma malignum of the cervix. Cancer *50*, 1384-402.

Zundel, W., Schindler, C., Haas-Kogan, D., Koong, A., Kaper, F., Chen, E., Gottschalk, A. R., Ryan, H. E., Johnson, R. S., Jefferson, A. B., *et al.* (2000). Loss of PTEN facilitates HIF-1-mediated gene expression. Genes Dev *14*, 391-396

Zurawel, R. H., Allen, C., Wechsler-Reya, R., Scott, M. P., and Raffel, C. (2000). Evidence that haploinsufficiency of Ptch leads to medulloblastoma in mice. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 28, 77-81.